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GROUP STRUCTURE

£ B3
At 30 September 2023

R20234F9H30H

PARENT COMPANY
1SN

Melbourne Enterprises Limited

BERREERAT]

SUBSIDIARY
LRl AN

Equity Holding Principal Activities
ERERDL FTEXER

lau On Company Limited
HRERAT]

ASSOCIATE
BE QT

Chuen King Enterprises Limited
ERPEARRRQFA

100% Property investment
MERE

50% Inactive
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBFN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick, aged 79, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in December 1967 and also serves as a
director of the subsidiary of the Company. He graduated from Prince
Alfred College in Australia and is a director of Aik San Realty Limited,
Fu Hop Investment Company Limited and Good Earning Investment
Company Limited. He is the son of the late Mr. Chung Ming Fai and
brother of Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert. Mr. Chung was appointed as
the Chairman of the Company on 31 May 2023. He resigned as the
Company Secretary on the same day.

Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick, aged 52, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in April 2015. He is the Chief Executive
Officer and executive director of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited,
the vice-chairman and executive director of i-CABLE Communications
Limited, an executive director of UMP Healthcare Holdings Limited,
and a non-executive director of Giordano International Limited and
SJM Holdings Limited. Mr. Tsang was a non-executive director of
Greenheart Group Limited and Integrated Waste Solutions Group
Holdings Limited, all being companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tsang is also a governor of Chow Tai Fook Charity
Foundation, and the founder and director of CTFE Social Solutions.
Mr. Tsang holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from
Columbia College of Columbia University in New York, USA.

Mr. Kenneth Lau, aged 47, was appointed as the alternate director
to Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick since 24 May 2019. He is the managing
principal of Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited. He has been a non-
executive Director of the Company of Greenheart Group Limited since
24 May 2022. He is also a director of Yunnan Jinggu Forestry Co.,
Ltd., being a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr.
Lau has 20 years of experience in corporate finance, real estate and
private equity investments. Prior to joining Chow Tai Fook Enterprises
Limited, he was the co-founder and managing director at Pinnacle
Real Estate Capital Partners Limited and the director in charge of
China acquisitions at Aetos Capital LLC. Mr. Lau also previously
worked in the Global Real Estate Group and the Investment Banking
Division of Lehman Brothers Asia Limited. He holds a Master of
Engineering degree from the University of Oxford in the United
Kingdom.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, aged 75, was appointed as Executive
Director of the Company in December 1975 and became a Non-
executive Director in June 1999. He also serves as a director of the
subsidiary of the Company. He is a director of Aik San Realty Limited,
Fu Hop Investment Company Limited and Good Earning Investment
Company Limited. He is the son of the late Mr. Chung Ming Fai and
brother of Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick. Mr. Chung was appointed as
the Company Secretary of the Company on 31 May 2023.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBFN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (cont’d)

Mr. Wong Tak Wai, Alvin, aged 66, was appointed as Non-Executive
Director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee on
31 May 2023. Mr. Wong was a partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers
from 1992 to 2017. He is a Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Australia and New Zealand.
He was the President of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in 2002. Mr. Wong has extensive experience in
accounting, auditing and corporate finance and holds a Bachelor of
Commerce at the University of Otago in New Zealand.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Pak Shiu, aged 69, was appointed as Executive Director of
the Company in March 1989 and redesignated as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company. He is also a director of Foo
Hang Jewellery Limited.

Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick, aged 66, is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising) and a fellow of Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Yuen has extensive experience in accounting and
corporate finance and is currently a practising director of Kingston
CPA Limited. He was appointed as Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company in September 2004.

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony, aged 81, has been a practicing lawyer in
Hong Kong since 1968 and a practicing Notary Public in Hong Kong
since 1977. He has also been admitted as a solicitor in England
and Wales. He is currently a Consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries. He was an independent Non-Executive
Director of Lee & Man Chemical Company Limited and Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (September 2003-August 2023), all
being companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He was
appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in
December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEEBFN

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (cont'd)

Ms. Ling Kit Sum, Imma, aged 69, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company and a member of the
Audit Committee on 31 May 2023. She is a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) and is a retired assurance partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers. Ms. Ling is an independent non-executive
director of Raymond Industrial Limited, EVA Precision Industrial
Holdings Limited and Arta TechFin Corporation Limited, and was
also an independent non-executive director of Digital Hollywood
Interactive Limited (November 2017 — June 2021) and Wise Ally
International Holdings Limited (December 2019 — June 2023), all
being companies listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Ms. Ling is a council member and the treasurer of The
Education University of Hong Kong. Ms. Ling has been appointed
by Vocational Training Council as a member of the Advisory Board
of Hong Kong Institute of Information Technology for two years
from 17 October 2023. She is a council member of The Hong Kong
Federation of Youth Groups, an executive committee member of
Hong Kong Youth Hostels Association and an independent manager
of the incorporated management committee of Ng Yuk Secondary
School. Ms. Ling was a board member of Estate Agents Authority
(November 2015 — October 2021) and Employees Compensation
Assistance Fund Board (July 2006 — June 2012). She also served as
a member of Hospital Governing Committee of Hospital Authority (April
2015 — March 2022) and a member of Appeal Board Panel (Town
Planning) (October 2016 — September 2022). Ms. Ling is a member
of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, and a member
of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada and Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants. She is an accredited general
mediator of the Hong Kong Mediation Accreditation Association
Limited. Ms. Ling has extensive experience in accounting, auditing,
due diligence and initial public offerings, and holds a Diploma in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) and a Master of Science in
Corporate Governance and Directorship (Distinction) from the Hong
Kong Baptist University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Various businesses and functions of the Company are respectively
under the direct responsibilities of the Executive Directors who are
regarded as senior management of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The Directors present their annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 30 September 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are property investment
and investment holding in Hong Kong. The principal activities of
the subsidiary and associate are set out in notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 68. A commentary on annual results is included in the “Directors’
Business Review” on page 32.

An interim dividend of HK$1.80 per share was paid in July 2023,
totalling HK$45,000,000. The Directors recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HK$1.80 per share, totalling HK$45,000,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 30 September
2023 is set out in the sections headed “Directors’ Business Review”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 32 and 33
respectively of this Annual Report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 132.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 September 2023,
calculated under Part 6 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), amounted to HK$207,055,000 (2022: HK$209,150,000).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chung Ming Fai (passed away on 4 May 2023)
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick (Mr. Kenneth Lau as his alternate)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert
Mr. Wong Tak Wai, Alvin (appointed on 31 May 2023)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Lo Pak Shiu

Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick

Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony

Ms. Ling Kit Sum, Imma (appointed on 31 May 2023)

In accordance with Article 94 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Wong Tak Wai, Alvin and Ms. Ling Kit Sum, Imma,
who were appointed on 31 May 2023, shall hold office until the next
following annual general meeting (“AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM to be held on 26
January 2024.

In accordance with Article 103(A) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick and Mr. Wong Kai Tung,
Tony will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

During the year and up to the date of this report, the late Mr. Chung
Ming Fai, Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick and Mr. Chung Wai Shu,
Robert were also directors in the subsidiary of the Company. Other
director of the Company’s subsidiary during the year and up to the
date of this report was Mr. Lo Ka Chung.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Except as disclosed in note 25 of the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or Company’s subsidiary was a party and in which a Director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No loan was made during the financial year to the Company’s
Directors or officers or body corporate controlled by them either by
the Company or by its subsidiary or by a third party on the security or
guarantee of the Company or its subsidiary.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing connected transaction during the year and up to the date
of this report is set out below:

On 25 July 2022, the Company as lessor and Fu Hop Investment
Company Limited (“Fu Hop”) as lessee renewed a lease agreement
(the “Lease Agreement”), pursuant to which the lessee leased Rooms
2401-2411 on 24th floor of Melbourne Plaza, 33 Queen’s Road
Central, Hong Kong (the “Fu Hop Premises”) from the lessor for a
fixed term of two years from 1 August 2022 to 31 July 2024 at a
monthly rental of HK$258,792 with monthly air-conditioning charges
and management fees of HK$42,920.

The Fu Hop Premises, the subject of the Lease Agreement, is owned
by the Company. Fu Hop is a company whose shares are ultimately
owned by two Executive Directors, namely the late Mr. Chung Ming
Fai and Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick, and a Non-Executive Director,
namely Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, and their associates and is,
accordingly, a connected person of the Company and the entering
into the Lease Agreement and all the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected transaction for the
Company under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

As set out in the announcement of the Company dated 25 July 2022,
the annual cap under the Lease Agreement for the year ended 30
September 2023 and 2024 are HK$3,700,000 and HK$3,100,000,
respectively.

The total consideration received from Fu Hop during the year ended
30 September 2023 under the Lease Agreement amounted to
HK$3,621,000 which did not exceed annual cap of HK$3,700,000.

The continuing connected transaction mentioned above has been
reviewed by the Independent Non-Executive Directors of the
Company who have confirmed that the transaction has been entered
into:

(@ inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transaction in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The independent auditor has
issued an unqualified letter containing the findings and conclusions
in respect of the abovementioned continuing connected transaction
disclosed by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (cont’d)

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 30 September 2023 is disclosed in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements. The transactions entered
into with Kin Fung Hong Limited and Dedicare Limited in respect of
rental and related income on lease of investment properties, and Fu
Hop Investment Company Limited in respect of provision of meal to
employees of the Group, as described in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements also constitute continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules. However, they are exempt from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements
because they are below de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76 of
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the year and up to the date of this report, the following
Directors are considered to have interests in the following businesses
which compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group other than those businesses
where the Directors of the Company were appointed as directors to
represent the interests of the Company and/or the Group pursuant to
the Listing Rules as set out below:

Name of entity which businesses are
considered to compete or likely to
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25 BRELETEZERABDLBCEERA
RETZ ABREYMFER S LABKRAZX
5 REEREFARAFETZIABAS
BEIREREZR 5 (WA MBHRERMEE
25Tk ) TRBR LR RIER Tl #4E R
BR] e AW ARZREXZE LA
F14ATEIRA T RIERBHE N - FHLERH
RETHABEBRRIE  FEFRNNMAERE
ME °

EENEFRE P 2 ER

RAFEARBEARNRE BB - BARA
LEZRZRERBBRHZESURRKRAR
AR/ RAEEZ Mo - BRIEETHRA
THESHRRSHEE NIBRREXBEZ
KEEBRBFXAEBRBF XG5
= FHBE

Description of
businesses of the
entity which are
considered to compete interest of
or likely to compete

Nature of

the Director

Name of Director compete with the businesses of the Group with the Group in the entity
BEAEFEEER EER
HERBRAEASEERBRAHRT R T T RS R ZERZ
XS RAEBR BT 2 EREAR R BREZER BamE
Mr. Chung Ming Fai Aik San Realty Limited group of companies Property investment Director
(passed away on 4 May 2023) B EXARAREE MERE £
BB LA (2023 F5 A4 HEHE)  Fu Hop Investment Company Limited Property investment Director
EEEFXARRAT MERE 3
Good Eamning Investment Company Limited Property investment Director
ZRNEZARAA] MERE 3
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING EENRFRERPER B

BUSINESSES (cont’d)

Description of
businesses of the

entity which are Nature of
Name of entity which businesses are considered to compete interest of
considered to compete or likely to or likely to compete the Director
Name of Director compete with the businesses of the Group with the Group in the entity
BRERERREER EER
HERBRARAEEEBBRHRT BHBRFRAEBR ZEEZ
XS RAEBRRTE 2 EREAR BEBRZER BamE
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick Aik San Realty Limited group of companies Property investment Director
EBERELLE mMERERAREE MERE 3
Fu Hop Investment Company Limited Property investment Director
EEEXARRAA MERE 3
Good Eaming Investment Company Limited Property investment Director
ZRNEXRARRT] MERE i
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert Aik San Realty Limited group of companies Property investment Director
EEELE AMERERLAREE MERE 5%
Fu Hop Investment Company Limited Property investment Director
EREXARAR MERE 5%
Good Eamning Investment Company Limited Property investment Director
SRNEZARRT] MERE 5%
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited group of companies  Property investment Director
BRERE ARBREFERAAEE MERE e
As the Board of Directors of the Company is independent of the AAGEZENBURZEETE B

boards of these entities, the Group is therefore capable of carrying U AREE AL B IR A FEEEITHE

on such business independently of, and at arm’s length from the 7% o
businesses of these entities.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR BEEREROABESR2ZH

DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year was the Company or its subsidiary — Z</A &) sk Efi B A A 48 4F & N 48 2 BT
a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors (including their  {A]Z#f » FEMEZEE(BIERS 2B B A
spouses or children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by i+ /\pR 2 F 2 ) #ZEUWE A A B s E 4 A 7
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company  Z & sk &5 Mz ©

or any other body corporate.

ERREARRAR —ZT_=FFHK
I
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
or its subsidiary that is not determinable by the Group within one
year without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 September 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

Aggregate long positions in shares and underlying
shares of the Company

EERBEH

PAEEEIREBARANEMBRRET L
PRI AAEER —FRRIEMBAZMEE
ORERBERINIREE L

EERKRS - AEROKRES 2ER

R2023F9H30H + ARREENAAA R
HEEMAEEZE(ERRBS RAEKRIE
XVER) KR 10 MR D REHFFEELH
RARRIEZH M EGROIEI526BETIF
B ERMANERIOAE  JIRELETE
TAESBETESFXZWRESTA([1RAEST
A ) ZBXEARA T REER TR SO R 1A
T

RAERXTR 2RO REBROHEE
s )

Number of ordinary shares held

REZEBRYE
Approximate
percentage
of the total
Personal Corporate no. of issued
interests interests Total shares
e
ERITRGBZ
1B A R 23 S+ B By BREIL
Directors o
Mr. Chung Ming Fai BEREL A
(passed away on 4 May 2023) (F22023F5 54 H Bitt) 12,000,500 1,000 MNew(z 12 001,500 48.01
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick BEELE 1,875 - 1,875 0.01

Note: Mr. Chung Ming Fai (passed away on 4 May 2023) controlled more
than one-third of the voting power of Fu Hop Investment Company
Limited which held 1,000 shares in the Company.

14

BIsE - 4ERRIESE A (A2023E5 A4 R BT ) B &
REBEBRARAZRZNZ —ZIRERE
ZA BB A D ER1,0008%

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES (cont'd)

Apart from the above, as at 30 September 2023, no other interest
or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any associated corporations as defined in the SFO
were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that every Director is
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto.

The relevant provisions in the Company’s Articles of Association and
the Directors’ liability insurance were in force during the financial year
ended 30 September 2023 and as of the date of approval of this
report.

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

EERKRN - HERDKRES 2ER

(#8)

Br EaltE SN - 20239 A30R - KREEM
BEARRISEMBEEEZE(ERRES K
BB MR, - HEROKEST#ES
ARBESF KB GEI2EETIFERN
Mtk sk R BIR TR A A F]
NEEAZ BRSO R ©

BERFR BB R

ARPIEBMERARARE  BUESHEM
HEHANSRATERGMA e BB ELE
BB BAHE TR AR REETERS

BE -

REE2023F9 A30H IEBBEE MR AR
EHEZ B - AR SEMENEREIEX
NEEETRBREAER -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN

SHARES

As at 30 September 2023, the interests or short positions of
substantial shareholders in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under

Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Aggregate long positions in shares and underlying
shares of the Company

FERRRRAAD 2 s

RIBA R RIRE S M B G 1510 55336 1&A T
FEMNESLMATE - T E2RRMN2023F9 A
S0 F A AR AR K ARRE R 7 By R et sk
B

RART 2RO REBROHET
"R

Number of ordinary shares held

RENEBROEA
Approximate
percentage of
the total
Beneficial Corporate no. of issued
Name of substantial shareholders interests interests Total shares
=g
ERITRGZ
TERRNAR BigR EEER B BoEak
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings) Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings)
Limited (‘CYTF")® Limited ([ CYTF])® - 6,731,250 6,731,250 26.93
Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings ) ~ Cheng Yu Tung Family (Holdings Il)
Limited (“CYTF II")/® Limited([CYTF Il ))® - 6,731,250 6,731,250 26.93
Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited Chow Tai Fook Capital Limited
(“CTFC) (TCTFC )™ - 6,731,250 6,731,250 26.93
Chow Tai Fook (Holding) Limited FAAR(ER)ARAR(EAR
(formerly known as Centennial 1215 1) (B #8Centennial Success
Success Limited) (‘CTFH") Limited )" - 6,731,250 6,731,250 26.93
Chow Tai Fook Enterprises Limited ~~ EARBMEERAE
(“CTF")@ (AXERE] 2,981,250 3,750,000 6,731,250 26.93
New World Development Company ¥t R EERAF)
Limited (‘“NWD”)® (Eipugic -k - 3,750,000 3,750,000 15.00
Kin Kiu Enterprises, Limited (‘KK")®  BEMEER AR EE )0 3,750,000 - 3,750,000 15.00
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES (cont'd)

Aggregate long positions in shares and underlying
shares of the Company (cont'd)

Notes:

(1)  CYTF and CYTF Il held 48.98% and 46.65% interests in CTFC,
respectively. CTFC in turn owned 81.03% interest in CTFH which
held the entire interests in CTF. Therefore, CYTF, CYTF Il, CTFC and
CTFH were deemed to have interests in the shares in which CTF was
interested and deemed to be interested by virtue of its interests in NWD
as mentioned in note 2 below.

(2)  CTF and its subsidiaries had interests in more than one-third of the
issued shares of NWD and accordingly CTF was deemed to have an
interest in the shares in which NWD to be interested.

(8)  NWD held 100% direct interest in KK and was accordingly deemed to
have an interest in the shares interested by KK.

Save as disclosed above, no other person (other than the Directors)
had any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares
of the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange as at 30 September 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor its subsidiary has purchased or sold any of
the Company’s shares during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the financial year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to information that is available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the percentage of the Company’s
shares which are in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares during the year and up to
the date of this report.

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

FERRRRAD 2 #Es (40)

RART 2RO REBROOEETTF
1€

Wi

(1) CYTF 2 CYTF Il & 7l # & CTFC 48.98%
K 46.65% # 5 © CTFC#%5 A B A& 15 IR
81.03% % o MAXNEIZEREEBAAEE
¥ 230 - Fit - CYTF -~ CYTF Il » CTFC
REARBEREESREARBLEEGRE
AR PR R S P 0 T ST EE 2P
it FEBEAXECEBE Y AR 2R
AR A A R P A R -

@ EAECERENEANEETYARESD
W=7 —BEBTRMDAER - FULEXE
(ERR AR RERAA R
B H S -

@ HEARABRITEEBI00%EEER - Hitt
WRRNEBREERNRD P HEEES -

Br EXATREEE SN - 12023479 A30 A IR
EH L EGPIFE3361EATFE OB
NELE  REBMARR R ER
BREREMAT (ESHRIN BB AR RRD K
MR 2 AR SOA R o

BE - HEIEERS

FARRBLEBER AR 2 EEABD - AR
AINEMBARRAFEEATEBERLE
RRRZ AR -

EEEHN

RAEEAR » NRABWERIXFEEMAE
FAARRZEHIARINEB 2 EERITHZ
BHY -

RBRFRER BKF

RIBRNABIMEEHNEEMAE - ARF
RAFEARBERNREBR - 2RALH
FARRRD A D BB ARREHEITRD
HB25% °
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate revenue during the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers was 26%, of which 9% was derived from the
Group’s largest customer.

The aggregate purchases of revenue items during the year
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers was 33%, of which
11% was made from the Group’s largest supplier.

None of the Directors, their close associates, or shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares) had an interest in the customers or
suppliers noted above.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

An Audit Committee has been established for the purpose of
reviewing and providing supervision on the Group’s financial reporting
process, risk management (including but not limited to business,
operation as well as environmental, social and governance related
risks) and internal controls. The results for the year have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee. The composition of the Audit
Committee is shown on page 3.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers, who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Chung Yin Shu, Frederick
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15 December 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
©EERBE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance practices and procedures to safeguard the interests of
the shareholders and enhance the performance of the Group. The
Company has fully complied with all the applicable code provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules (the “CG Code”) throughout the year ended 30
September 2023.

The Board also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, primarily the Listing Rules, the Companies
Ordinance and the Securities and Futures Ordinance and compliance
with the CG Code, and for developing, reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance, the
code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to directors and
employees.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Directors of the Company confirmed that they had
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during
the year ended 30 September 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the management,
businesses, strategic directions and financial performance of the
Group. The Board holds regular meetings to discuss the Group’s
businesses and operations. All important issues are discussed in a
timely manner.

The Board comprises 8 Directors, with 2 Executive Directors, 2 Non-
Executive Directors and 4 Independent Non-Executive Directors. The
biographies of the Directors, including relationships among them, are
set out in Management Profile from pages 5 to 7 of this annual report.
The Company has received annual confirmation of independence
from all the Independent Non-Executive Directors in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view that all the
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the Listing Rules.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont'd)

The Group recognises the importance of diversity as a contributor
to Board effectiveness and the long-term success of the Group.
Diversity provides the Board with a wider knowledge base and brings
in new insights and perspectives, which improve decision-making
and ability to adapt to new business challenges. The Group aims at
ensuring that the Board and senior management always have the
necessary diversity of skills and attributes required to oversee and
govern in the ever-changing operating environment.

The Nomination Committee annually reviews and reports to the
Board for consideration on the following:

° The structure, size and composition of the Board; and

° The diversity of background (including gender, age, cultural and
educational background and professional experience), skills,
knowledge and experience of the Board.

All the Board appointments will be considered by the Nomination
Committee and recommended to the Board based on the diversity
perspectives set out above.

On 31 May 2023, the Board has appointed Ms. Ling Kit Sum, Imma
as Independent Non-Executive Director. After the appointment of Ms.
Imma Ling, the Board has fulfilled the gender diversity.

As at 30 September 2023, a 8:8 male to female gender ratio has
been achieved in the workforce (including senior management).

MECHANISM IN ACCESSING INDEPENDENT VIEWS
AND INPUT

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as advice and services of the Company Secretary, to ensure
that proper meeting arrangements and procedures are followed
to facilitate open and constructive discussions and thorough
consideration of relevant issues, and compliance with all applicable
rules and regulations. Coupled with strong independent element on
the Board which consists of 4 Independent Non-Executive Directors,
the Company has always ensured independent views and input are
available to the Board. All Directors also have full access to senior
management and independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, where necessary, in a confidential manner, to enable
them to discharge their duties. The Board reviewed that the relevant
mechanism is effective.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Each newly appointed Director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction covering the business and operations of the
Company and the statutory and regulatory obligation of a director
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements. All
Directors are provided with timely updates on the Company’s
performance, financial position and prospects, briefings and
professional development necessary to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, all Directors
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
activities to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Board reviews and monitors the training and continuous professional
development of Directors from time to time.

During the year, the Directors attended two training sessions
organized by the Company in relation to update on corporate
governance and ESG.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Non-Executive Directors (including the Independent Non-Executive
Directors) serve the relevant function of bringing independent
judgement on the development, performance and risk management
of the Group. The Non-Executive Directors are not appointed for a
specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company. Article 103(A) of the
Articles of Association of the Company provides that at each annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors (including Independent
Non-Executive Directors) for the time being (or if their number is not
three or a multiple of three, the number nearest to one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years pursuant to the CG Code.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (cont’d)

The Nomination Committee considered Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony
and Ms. Ling Kit Sum, Imma as Independent Non-Executive Directors
with in-depth understanding of the Company’s operations and
business, they have expressed objective views and given independent
guidance to the Company, and they continue demonstrating a firm
commitment to their role. The Nomination Committee was satisfied
that they have the required character, integrity, independence
and experience to continue fulfilling the role of Independent Non-
Executive Directors. They are beneficial to the Board with diversity of
their comprehensive business experience that contribute to invaluable
expertise in legal, auditing, due diligence and initial public offerings,
continuity and stability to the Board. The Nomination Committee
believes that they will continue to contribute effectively to the Board.

Their re-election as Independent Non-Executive Directors will be
subject to separate resolutions to be approved by the shareholders
at the forthcoming AGM.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. The Board committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, can seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cont’d)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, established with specific written terms of
reference, currently consists of four Independent Non-Executive
Directors and two Non-Executive Directors and is primary responsible
for the review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting
process and internal controls.

During the year ended 30 September 2023 and up to the date of
this report, the Audit Committee (i) reviewed the audited financial
statements for the year ended 30 September 2023 and the unaudited
interim financial statements for the six months ended 31 March 2023
with recommendations to the Board for approval; (i) reviewed reports
on internal control system of the Group and carried out reviews of
the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems; (iii) discussed with the management and the external
auditors the accounting policies and practices which may affect the
Group and financial reporting matters; and (iv) considered and made
a recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the auditor.

Members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Patrick
(Committee Chairman), Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, Mr. Lo Pak Shiu,
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony, Mr. Wong Tak Wai, Alvin and Ms. Ling Kit
Sum, Imma.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cont’d)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, established with specific written terms
of reference, currently consists of three Independent Non-Executive
Directors, one Non-Executive Director and one Executive Director
and is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy, structure and packages for the remuneration of
all the Directors and senior management of the Company and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy for approval by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee met twice during the year to review the remuneration
policy for Directors and senior management of the Company and
the current remuneration packages of Directors and senior executive
members.

Each Director receives a fixed fee of HK$150,000 per annum. The
remuneration package of Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick, Executive
Director, and senior executive members also consists of basic salary,
discretionary bonus and retirement benefits. The Directors’ fee and
the performance-linked remuneration packages are subject to review
by the Board and the Remuneration Committee from time to time
with reference to their respective duties and responsibilities and
the Company’s performance, profitability and the prevailing market
condition. Details of the amount of emoluments of Directors paid for
the financial year ended 30 September 2023 are set out in note 9 to
the financial statements.

Members of the Remuneration Committee are Mr. Yuen Sik Ming,
Patrick (Committee Chairman), Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, Mr.
Chung Yin Shu, Frederick, Mr. Lo Pak Shiu and Mr. Wong Kai Tung,
Tony.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (cont’d)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee, established in March 2012 with specific
written terms of reference, currently consists of three Independent
Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and one
Executive Director and is primary responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board annually, considering the suitability
of a candidate to act as a Director on the basis of the candidate’s
qualification, experience, integrity and potential contribution to
the Company, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and assessing the
independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors. During the
year under review and up to the date of this report, two meetings
were held by the Nomination Committee to (i) review the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and Board Committees; (i) recommend the nomination
of Directors and members of Board committee having considered
the perspectives, skills, expertise, experiences and diversity (including
gender, age, cultural and educational background and professional
experience) of the candidates; (i) consider the re-appointment of
Directors; and (iv) assess the independence of the Independent Non-
Executive Directors.

Members of the Nomination Committee are Mr. Yuen Sik Ming,
Patrick (Committee Chairman), Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert, Mr.
Chung Yin Shu, Frederick, Mr. Lo Pak Shiu and Mr. Wong Kai Tung,
Tony.

In relation to the appointment of Mr. Wong Tak Wai, Alvin as Non-
Executive Director and Ms. Ling Kit Sum, Imma as Independent Non-
Executive Director during the year, the Nomination Committee took
into consideration of extensive experience of Mr. Wong in accounting,
auditing and corporate finance, and Ms. Ling in accounting, auditing,
due diligence and initial public offerings, considered that they have
the character, integrity, independence and experience to fulfil their
roles effectively, and recommended to the Board the appointment of
Mr. Wong as Non-Executive Director, Ms. Ling as Independent Non-
Executive Director and both as members of the Audit Committee.
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ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS OF THE BOARD,
BOARD COMMITTEES AND GENERAL MEETING

EEE EXZEERBRRAEZE
= H AT 8%

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend
for the year ended 30 September 2023
HZ2023F9R30A LFELRE AERLESRNY

AGM held
on
Audit Remuneration  Nomination 20 January
Board  Committee = Committee = Committee 2023
R2023F
1A20H
BITNRE
EEe ERZEE FMEEE REZEE BEAE
Name of Director EEF S
Executive Directors YTES
Mr. Chung Ming Fai (Chairman) BRI % £ (EfE)
(passed away on 4 May 2023) (R2023F5A4H
Bit) 112 NATER N/ATE R N/ATE R 0/
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, Frederick BEERE(ERE)
(Chairman) 12/12 N/ATEF 2/2 2/2 1/1
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick LREEE 3/12 N/ATE N/ATN N/ATNEF il
(Attended by his alternate, (R BEES
Mr. Kenneth Lau) BleE 2 LERE) - N/ATEF N/ATEF NATER 0/1
Non-Executive Directors FUTES
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, Robert BEELL 12/12 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Wong Tak Wai, Alvin EER T4 (R2023F
(appointed on 31 May 2023) 5A31BEZT) N/ATE N/ATEF N/AREF N/AN N/ATE
Independent Non-Executive ~ By EHTES
Directors
Mr. Lo Pak Shiu ER@tE 12/12 2/2 2/2 2/2 11
Mr. Yuen Sk Ming, Patrick BedfeAse 712 1/2 1/2 1/2 11
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony FRREAE 6/12 1/2 1/2 1/2 0/1
Ms. Ling Kit Sum, Imma BRI L (20235
(appointed on 31 May 2023) 5A31BEZT) N/ATE N/ATEF N/AEF N/AN R N/ATE
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 30 September 2023, the total fees paid/
payable in respect of services provided by the Group’s external
auditor are set out below:

BB A <

BE202340FA30H L - BAEBINE
BRI AR 2 B/ e B S SRS
T

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BET T

Audit and audit related services FNz MR E RS 916 999
Non-audit services (note) AL AR (P 5E) 214 228
1,130 1,227

Note: Non-audit services include review, statutory compliance, regulatory or
government procedures required to comply with financial, accounting
or regulatory report matters.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board, supported by the finance and accounts department,
is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the
Company and the Group. In preparing the financial statements,
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants have been adopted.
Appropriate accounting policies have also been used and applied
consistently. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is
included in the Report of the Independent Auditor on pages 60 to 67
of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for overseeing and
maintaining sound and effective risk management and internal control
systems on an ongoing basis so as to safeguard the Group’s assets
and shareholders’ interests. The Board is responsible for reviewing
the risk management and internal control policies on an annual basis,
and has delegated the responsibility of designing, implementing and
monitoring internal controls and risk management to the Executive
Directors.

The risk management and internal control systems provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss. They are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk
of failure in the Group’s operations, safeguard the Group’s assets,
maintain appropriate accounting records and financial reporting,
and ensure effective compliance with the Listing Rules and all other
applicable laws and regulations. External independent professional
consultants will be engaged if the Board considers appropriate.

The Board takes steps to provide sound and effective risk
management, which include identification and assessment of
significant business risks, monitoring and reporting of such risks and
day-to-day operational management and control to reduce, mitigate,
transfer or avoid risks. The identified risks are evaluated based on
potential impact and likelihood of occurrence. Procedures have been
established to identify and execute risk mitigation actions based on
the Board’s risk tolerance, provide ongoing monitoring of risks to
ensure that they are effectively managed as well as to escalate and
report any identified issues in a timely manner for effective control.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(cont’d)

The Board regularly reviews the effectiveness and adequacy of the
risk management and internal control systems and is satisfied that the
Group’s internal controls on key business processes and operations
are sufficiently and reasonably implemented. The Audit Committee
assists the Board to conduct annual review on the risk management
and internal control systems. The Board reviews the establishment of
internal audit function annually. Given the Group’s simple operating
structure, it was decided that the Board would be directly responsible
for the ongoing review and assessment of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Board will review and
ensure adequate of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting,
financial reporting functions as well as those relating to the
Company’s environmental, social and governance performance and
reporting are deployed to maintain the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal controls systems.

Regarding procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

(i) is aware of its obligations under the SFO and the Listing Rules
and the overriding principle that inside information should be
announced immediately if it is the subject to the requirements
and the safe harbours as provided in SFO;

(i)  conducts its affairs with close regard to the applicable laws and
regulations prevailing in Hong Kong;

(i) has communicated to all relevant staff regarding the
requirement of handling and dissemination of inside information.
For any matter involving potentially price sensitive and inside
information, relevant staff is required to escalate the matter
to the Board and/or senior executives who will assess the
materiality and nature of the information and whether such
information constitutes inside information and the necessary
disclosures and/or appropriate follow-up actions; and

(iv)  provides trainings to the Board and the relevant staff.
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DIVIDEND

The Company provides shareholders with sustainable dividends. The
level of dividends shall be determined in line with the growth in the
Company’s consolidated profits attributable to shareholders of the
relevant financial period after considering the factors including the
Company’s operations, business plans and strategies, cash flows,
financial conditions, operating and capital requirements and other
contractual or regulatory restrictions.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene Extraordinary
General Meeting (“EGM”)

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, shareholders representing
at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders of the
Company having a right to vote at general meetings are entitled to
send a written request to the Company to convene an EGM. Such
request must state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and may include the text of a resolution that may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at the meeting. A
request may be sent to the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office and must also be authenticated by the person or
persons making it.

Procedures for Shareholders to request circulation of
statement at EGM

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, shareholder(s) representing
at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the shareholders of the
Company or at least 50 shareholders of the Company, who have a
relevant right to vote, can request the Company in writing to circulate
to the shareholders a statement of not more than 1,000 words
with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at that meeting. A request may be sent to
the Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office and must
identify the statement to be circulated. It must be authenticated by
the person or persons making it and be received by the Company at
least 7 days before such meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (cont'd)

Procedures for proposing a Person for Election as a
Director at General Meeting

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, if a shareholder
wishes to propose a person other than a retiring Director for election
as a Director at a general meeting, the shareholder should deposit
a written notice of nomination and a notice signed by the person to
be proposed of his/her willingness to be elected which shall be given
to the Company within the 7-day period commencing the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting and ending no later than 7
days prior to the date appointed for such meeting.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board and senior management maintain a continuing dialogue
with the Company’s shareholders and investors through various
channels including the Company’s annual general meeting. The
Chairman and other members of the Board attend the annual
general meeting. The Directors will answer questions raised by the
shareholders on the performance of the Group. The Board considers
this mechanism has been properly implemented and is effective.
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DIRECTORS’ BUSINESS REVIEW

| would report to shareholders that the Group’s loss after taxation for
the financial year ended 30 September 2023 amounted to HK$129.1
million (2022: HK$127.4 million). The loss mainly resulted from the
current year’s increase in fair value loss of investment properties.
The fair value loss of investment properties for the current year is
HK$221.1 million while the fair value loss of investment properties
for the year of 2022 was HK$220.8 million. The Board of Directors
recommend a final dividend of HK$1.80 per share payable to the
shareholders registered on 2 February 2024. In addition to the interim
dividend of HK$1.80 per share paid in July 2023, the total dividend
for the year amounted to HK$3.60 per share (2022: HK$3.60 per
share).

The Group’s investment properties at Melbourne Plaza, 33 Queen’s
Road Central and Kimley Commercial Building at 142-146 Queen’s
Road Central were 93% and 85% leased as at 30 September 2023
respectively.

During the year, the coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) is ended. The
social is resuming to normal. Although rental concessions are not
granted to tenants, the Group’s revenue decreased by 0.5% year-on-
year as a result. Without any debt or commitment, the Group is in a
healthy financial position.

For the Group’s investment in Foshan Golf Club project, part of the
residential properties have been sold. There are other project items
under development and promotion.

Looking into the future, through close liaison with tenants and
continuing with its prudent business approach, the Group hopes to

bring optimal return to all shareholders.

Taking this opportunity, | would like to thank my fellow directors and
staff members for their loyal services and continuing efforts.

Chung Yin Shu, Frederick
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 15 December 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DN

GROUP RESULTS

The Group’s performance has declined for the year ended 30
September 2023 compared to the year ended 30 September 2022
as a result of reduced market rent, rent concessions requested by
tenants. Loss attributable to equity holders for the year amounted to
HK$129.1 million (2022: HK$127.4 million). The loss mainly resulted
from the current year’s increase in fair value loss of investment
properties. The fair value loss of investment properties for the current
year is HK$221.1 million while the fair value loss of investment
properties for the year of 2022 was HK$220.8 million. After allowing
for the effect of fair value changes of investment properties, the
underlying operating profit from rental operations decreased by
3.0% from HK$111.5 million for 2022 to HK$108.1 million for 2023.
Revenue for the year amounted to HK$157.9 million (2022: HK$158.7
million), decreased by 0.5% year-on-year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group’s investment properties at Melbourne Plaza and Kimley
Commercial Building in Central were approximately 93% and 85% let
as at 30 September 2023 respectively (2022: approximately 91% and
74% let respectively).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s working capital requirement was financed by its rental
income. As at 30 September 2023, the Group had cash and bank
balances totalling HK$254.1 million (2022: HK$244.4 million). During
the year, the Group did not take up any borrowings or overdraft
facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWR DM

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES EERFMBUER

The Group employs a total of 16 employees. The Group recognises ANEE ZEBE AZA16A - KEEZKINE
the importance of the strength of its human resources for its success. BB T2 SME M - FTAEEFH S
Remuneration of employees is maintained at competitive levels and — #¥FEAEB/KFE - M8 T2 FENntE L& F+
promotion and salary increments are assessed on a performance & T{F&RIR AF(HE%E -

basis.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS, DISPOSALS AND BERKNE - HERARKRER
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

There were no acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and  ZAREER - 7= T U BB 8k & (] B
investments accounted for using the equity method during the year. A &) MIZIETREAIRKIIRE o BRILLASN - &
There are no other plans for material capital investments or future B KA 7] HEA & K 2 B AR E 5 A 3%
developments. REtEl -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R dHE8REXERRSE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Melbourne Enterprises Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary
(together the “Group” or “we”) are pleased to present our annual
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report. The scope
of this report covers our key business operations in property
investment in Hong Kong. The report summarises our performances
in sustainable development during the financial year ended 30
September 2023. The report is prepared based on the ESG
Reporting Guide under Appendix 27 of the Main Board Listing Rules
issued by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Group endeavours to create sustained growth and long-term
value for its stakeholders. As a business with a lean employee team
of 16 people, the Group embeds ESG considerations when investing
in and managing its assets.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) oversees the overall direction of
the Group’s ESG strategies, and the Group sets up ESG programs to
align with the direction. ESG performance is measured, reviewed and
reported to management regularly for continuous improvement.

REPORTING BOUNDARIES

The Group utilizes its organizational boundary for calculating
environmental and social performance with the adoption of the
“operational control” technique. The Group’s and its Hong Kong
subsidiary’s performance throughout the reporting year determines
the reporting boundary. The report offers a summary of our ESG
management strategy, associated projects, and environmental
performance metrics from 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2023.
The reporting boundary is unchanged from the preceding reporting
period.
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BOARD STATEMENT

The Board of Directors is deeply committed to incorporating ESG
systems into all critical business decisions, recognizing the crucial
importance of successful sustainability policies. As the highest
governing body, the Board assumes the ultimate responsibility for
setting the direction of our ESG strategy and reporting. It plays a
pivotal role in directing the administration and oversight of ESG issues
that are deemed relevant to the Group’s operations.

To ensure effective ESG management, the Board ensures the
establishment of robust and efficient ESG risk management and
internal control measures. It regularly assesses and determines
the risks associated with our ESG practices, acknowledging the
dynamic nature of environmental, social, and governance challenges.
By proactively addressing these risks, the Board demonstrates its
commitment to sustainable practices and stakeholder interests.

For the fiscal year ended 30 September 2023, the Board specifically
focused on evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency of our ESG
strategies. It examined the alignment of our activities with established
sustainability goals, ensuring that our efforts contribute to meaningful
and measurable outcomes. By reviewing the performance of our
ESG initiatives, the Board seeks to continuously enhance our
environmental stewardship, social responsibility, and corporate
governance practices.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group has been maintaining an open and transparent dialogue
with stakeholders, including employees, customers, shareholders,
suppliers, contractors, and the wider community. The Group engages
its key stakeholders on a regular basis, through various channels
such as staff meetings, Annual General Meeting, interview etc., to
gauge their expectations and feedbacks on how we could address
ESG issues in the best manner. We start by gathering a better
understanding of their expectations and views on what ESG issues
they think matter the most and how the Group should be expected
to handle such important ESG issues. This ESG report serves as
an important tool to address the key concerns and interests of our
stakeholders.

The Group selects its material themes based on the most recent
advancements in the field of sustainability, industry trends, and
materiality evaluation, which considers how relevant topics affect our
operations and our stakeholders. The primary interests and concerns
of our stakeholders during the reporting period, as learned from
the stakeholder engagement initiatives, have been recognized and
prioritized in the disclosures in this ESG report. The remainder of the
Report provides summaries of important initiatives and activities.

Based on management’s evaluation and feedback from stakeholders,
the Group has strategically restructured its portfolio of material topics
and remains committed to focusing our efforts on these key areas.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT (cont'd)

Issues

15

ERAWE

NS AEESENMER R

Definitions

g%

Environmental
RiE

Use of Resources

BIRA A

Energy Consumption

RERERE

Water Management

KEREIE
Social
e

Health and Safety

BEMNZE

Community Engagement

MR

Employee Well-being

BTt

38

The Group’s consumption and resources management for energy (including fuel,
electricity) and resources such as water and plastic materials.

AREBERR(BERH - EH) RERQIKERMERME) O ERENRERER

The Group’s temperature regulation approach, air conditioning and other electricity
infrastructure system that aim to improve energy efficiency and reduce electricity
consumption.
REERRE R TA
B FAT o

ZERAREME EIRFRAEMB DB ERENES

The Group’s management approach in monitoring water usage practices, which
includes initiatives such as water recycling and reusing.

AEEEERRKERSANERTE - HREEKERMNBNAEEG

The Group’s policy and control in terms of occupational health and safety of
working environment.

AEE B EERER T ERE L 2 BRI -

The Group’s initiatives to engage the local community at the locations of the
business operation

RNE BT EE S FTEHA) & it (B 2 B 5 o

The Group’s collective efforts of creating a workplace that promotes employee’s
physical and emotional well-being.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY FEEEESENEEST A (E)
ASSESSMENT (cont’d)

Issues Definitions

B8 BE

Governance

=)

Corporate Governance The Group’s policy and control in terms of governance of ESG related issue and
anti-corruption risk.

PEER RNEBEFESGHEBEEE A MR BT AR BUER B o

Anti-corruption The Group’s stance and management approach for implementing control methods
to whistleblowing procedures, bribery, gifts, and business entertainments.

R&ES REEHERIZT - B - BmAERBEFAESS AERRE S EIR A

Service Quality The Group’s approach to ensure the safety and quality of its services through
operations and quality management systems.

RIGES AEERAELNEEERRBEARRRELE2NEENTE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION RIBERE

The Group is committed to operating its business in an AEBEBANUEERERN S RELEE -
environmentally conscious manner. Building energy consumption,  fEff G B AEEIREYERBRES - 2
waste management and water use during the use and occupancy  ZEEEJRIEFE - BEEVIE IR A A KER 7 ANEE
of the Group’s investment properties comprise the key parts of the  IRiEEIIRIBHE D - At - BRFIFEFER
Group’s environmental footprint. Therefore, great emphasis has been B EREREVKIFIBEEE ©

put into resource conservation and emissions management at these

properties.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (cont'd)

We strive to reduce our greenhouse gas emissions through the
lowering of our energy consumption from the major areas which
include air conditioning, lift and lighting systems. We have installed
high efficiency water-cooled chillers with variable-speed drives
in air conditioning systems. Special coatings, which contain tight
urethane resin-based paint, have been applied to the facades of our
buildings in order to improve thermal insulation and reduce energy
consumption from cooling. Our lifts have also been equipped with
energy saving equipment with variable voltage and frequency to
achieve a higher energy efficiency. Lighting systems in the corridors
of some of our properties have been replaced with LED lamps
that are more durable and energy efficient. Moreover, we have
extended this initiative to lighting systems within the properties of
the Group. With continuous maintenance of our current fixtures and
the development of new programs, we are able to witness year-to-
year improvement on our overall efficiency whilst holding on to our
sustainable development.

In addition to the continuous feature upgrades of some building
facilities and installations, we communicate environmental targets
and performance to employees, customers and other stakeholders.
For example, our employees are educated to minimise the usage of
energy, water and other resources at the workplace. We have been
promoting double-sided printing and waste recycling. Our employees
are also encouraged to turn off idle lightings and electrical appliances.
Property management staff at our commercial buildings will turn off
their buildings’ lighting and reduce passenger lift service starting from
8:00 p.m. We work closely with tenants to minimise waste generation
in their daily operations wherever practicable, through the prevention,
reuse, recycling and recovery of waste.

Water conservation is another key focus of the Group. For example,
our property management team encourages smart water use by
installing water efficient taps in washrooms and promoting concepts
of water conservation to our tenants, which has been positively
received with without affecting the user experiences.

We are dedicated to make a contribution to environmental protection.
We will continue to review the effectiveness of the existing initiatives

and set achievable targets in future years.
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THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group strives to protect the natural environment and the
community by reducing negative impacts from operations. Given
the nature of the Group’s principal business activities, its operations
are not expected to create much impact on the environment and
therefore will not consume significant natural resources.

With focus on property management operations, we strictly abide
with government regulations in resources conservation programs,
including recycling non-hazardous materials and work with tenants
and third-party specialists for hazardous waste treatment.

Water consumption was closely monitored for toilet use and daily
consumption within the office buildings. Due to the nature of our
business, which does not involve intensive water consumption from
manufacturing operations, we have not encountered any water stress
situations.

While as a property investment and management company, our site
selection concentrates in urban area. With limited impact to natural
environment made, the Group will continue to look into different ways
to enhance its employees’ environmental awareness and incorporate
environmental considerations into its business decisions, in addition
to enhancing environmental measures. Minimising GHG emissions
and enhancing energy efficiency through upgrading the lightings and
air-cooled chillers are the long-term environmental targets of the
Group.

During the reporting period, the Group has complied with relevant
environmental laws and regulations. The Group does not aware of
any non-compliance with significant impact on the Group relating to
air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

As a result of climate change, extreme weather events, such as
typhoons, seasonal storms and heavy rains, are likely to become
more frequent in the future. To manage and mitigate climate risks
resulting from extreme weather events and protect the Group against
possible financial loss, the Group has formulated emergency plans
to deal with extreme weathers, which aims to reduce disruption and
loss due to suspension of operations.

At operational level, we fully implement LED lighting to reduce energy
consumption and promote cost savings. Additionally, we regularly
check our energy system to ensure optimal energy usage throughout
the day. We have implemented the practice of shutting off non-
essential energy sources during non-office hours, minimizing wastage
and contributing to our commitment to environmental sustainability. As
part of our commitment to conserving energy, we have also invested
in optimizing the existing air conditioning systems. We have upgraded
our infrastructure by installing new air conditioning units that are
not only more efficient but also consume significantly less energy.
The proactive steps helps us reduce our environmental impact
and contribute to overall energy conservation efforts. Additionally,
through regular maintenance and monitoring, we ensure that these
systems continue to operate at their peak efficiency, further reducing
energy consumption and promoting sustainable practices within our
operations.

The Group regularly review the impact of climate change on its
operation and will formulate measures in response to different risks
to reduce the risks to the Group and achieve sustainable operations
in future. During the reporting period, we have identified the most
relevant climate risk categories as shown in below table and
summarised their impacts to the Group. At the same time, the Board
will keep monitoring all relevant risks and opportunities and update its
strategy in responding to climate change.
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RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE (cont'd)

S

FE SRAR B ML (40)

Type Driver Implication
57 B8 E % A
Physical Risk Extreme Winds and The impact of floods from heavy rain and strong winds can not
Heavy Rain only cause damage to our properties but also disrupt our business
operations, leading to potential financial implications and increased
maintenance expenses.
b2 BE ANy 15 K EAN R ,Jﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬂa_ﬁxm/,dkﬂ SRERMNYE  ESEELRMINE

Transition Risk Policies that regulate
business activities that
generates negative

climate impacts

HiEE  BYBEENMBTZENGEERNEM -

Failure to comply with or stay updated on the latest developments
in environmental laws and regulations applicable to the Group’s
operations in various jurisdictions may result in potential losses.

B R MEELAERELE  AEBETILFTHRIARDEEERNEANAEEERNZINIER
B R BN BUR BEBER AR EBUEENEL -

Environmental Performance Data Table RIBMREERIR

Environmental KPls Unit 2022/23 2021/22

RIGEARENEE B 2022/234 2021/22%

Total greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions tonne CO,e 3,262 3,405

BERBGHO)EHNE NE_SfriEE

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1) tonne CO,e 767 550

RERBYR(EBE) NE_SfriEE

Greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 2) tonne CO,e 2,495 2,855

RERBYR(EBE2) NE_SfrEE

Total non-hazardous waste produced tonne 187 198

EERIEERIEDEE NI

Total electricity consumption kWh 3,668,981 3,525,194

BEEE T ELE

Total electricity consumption intensity by gross floor area kWh/square feet 11.98 11.52
BEBRE(REBEEETR) TR EAAR

Total water consumption m? 10,790 10,150

BFEKE SR

Total water consumption intensity by gross floor area mé/square feet 0.04 0.03

REEEETENBRIKERE SMHAKSFHRR
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RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE (cont'd)

Environmental Performance Data Table (cont’d)

Note: GHG emissions data for both years were calculated based on
emissions factors with reference to sources including the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong'’s “How to Prepare an ESG Report Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”, the Hong Kong SAR
Government’s Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical
and Mechanical Services Department’s “Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings
(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong”, the
Greenhouse Gas Protocol’s Emission Factors for Cross Sector Tools,
the OECD and IEA’s “CO, Emissions from Fuel Combustion”, the EPA’s
“Emission Factors for Greenhouse Gas Inventories” and the IEA’s
“Energy Statistics Manual”. In the reporting period, emission factors by
utility institution has decreased, which is reflected in decreased scope
2 emissions.

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

Our greatest asset and the foundation of our long-term expansion is
our workforce. Without the outstanding individuals who work for the
Group, none of our accomplishments would have been possible. The
Group pledges to provide satisfying careers, a welcoming workplace,
and a good work-life balance for its workers.

Employment

The Group aspires to be an employer of choice. To offer employees
fulfiling and rewarding careers, we put our people first by creating a
secured, engaging and inclusive work environment.

Our human resources practices are established to align with
the applicable laws and regulations with regard to recruitment,
compensation, other benefits and welfare, promotion, working hours,
resting periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
dismissal.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (cont'd)

Employment (cont'd)

The Group provides competitive remuneration to attract and retain
talent. Salary increments are assessed objectively, on a performance
basis. On top of salaries, we provide a range of benefits including
medical allowance, transportation and study allowances. Employees
are provided with a free lunch and refreshments every working day.
In order to promote employee engagement and a sense of belonging,
we distribute red pockets and mooncakes at traditional festivals such
as the Lunar New Year and Mid-Autumn Festival.

The Group embraces diversity and provides employees with equal
opportunities. A nurturing and collaborative workplace for all
employees is highly advocated whilst zero tolerance for harassment
and discrimination of any form is strictly enforced by the Group.
Employees are assessed and hired based on their capabilities,
regardless of their age, gender, nationality, cultural background,
religious belief, etc..

Our employees remain satisfied with the working environment that we
have low staff turnover during the reporting period.

Health and Safety

Ensuring the health, safety, and well-being of our employees is of
great importance to us, especially considering that some of our
tenants are private doctor practices and hospitals. We are fully
committed to aligning with government policies and regulations that
promote employee safety and implementing proactive measures
accordingly. In support of this commitment, we actively encourage
and support our staff in prioritizing their health by taking strict
preventive measures and active disinfection measures. These
measures are crucial to reducing the risk of infections and maintaining
a safe working environment.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (cont'd)

Health and Safety (cont'd)

In our properties, we conduct maintenance and inspections in
accordance with regulatory requirements regularly. Fire equipment
such as fire extinguishers and the emergency lighting system are
checked regularly to ensure proper functioning in the event of an
emergency. In the past three years, there was no work-related injury
and fatalities being reported.

As we believe both physical and mental health is important to
maintain high quality of work, flexible work arrangements are made
available as far as practical in support of our employees to maintain
work-life balance.

Development and Training

The Group believes that professional development of the employees
lays a solid foundation for its business growth and is key to
maintaining its competitiveness. Our employees are encouraged
to pursue work-related advanced studies and attend seminars and
workshops to hone their skills. We support our people by providing
study subsidies and flexibility in work scheduling to facilitate
the professional development of our employees. Similar to the
previous years, we subsidised our employees to attend property
management training workshops. In the long run, we will continue
to provide training opportunities for our employees and support their
professional development, and it is in our long term human capital
development plan to further diversify our planned employee training
curriculum.
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EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES (cont'd)

Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child and forced labour in its
operations and takes rigorous measures to prevent such practices.
Our suppliers and contractors are expected to adhere to the same
standard. The Group extends its responsibilities beyond mere
compliance with relevant laws and regulations to provide employees
with quality working conditions.

OPERATING PRACTICES

Supply Chain Management

The Group interacts with a number of suppliers and contractors when
managing its investment properties. Adherence to environmental and
social standards by suppliers and contractors forms an important
part of our commitment to sustainable procurement. Through
working with our suppliers and contractors, we strive to minimise
the risks associated with our supply chain including those related to
environmental, social and governance practices. The Group manages
the performances of the suppliers and contractors through regular
monitoring by the project manager. Annual performance review on
the suppliers and contractors is conducted to ensure continuous
compliance with the Group’s environmental policy. In the event of
unsatisfactory performance, the supplier will be asked to rectify
this issue in a timely manner. We may also suspend the business
relationships with the suppliers or contractors who fail to comply with
our performance and ethical standards. For sizeable outsourcing
work such as building maintenance and renovation projects, a
tendering process is in place for contractor selection. This includes
a fair and transparent process for bidding, investigations, tender
evaluations and decision-making. We maintain close relationships
with a select group of suppliers and continuously monitor their
adherence to local regulations. Additionally, we regularly update and
streamline our supply chain processes and categories to ensure
efficiency and compliance.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (cont’d)

Product Responsibility and Service Quality

The Group is responsible for providing a quality, safe and healthy
working environment to the tenants and visitors of its leased
properties. Tenants’ feedback is welcomed and helps guide the
continuous improvement of our service quality. Daily site inspections
are conducted and frequent communications with our tenants are
maintained with an aim to uphold a high standard of service quality.
Feedback and complaints are escalated as needed and followed up
by designated teams in a timely manner. The Group is committed to
continually improving its service quality. For example, in our facility
renovation project, we enhance our facilities with barrier-free entrance
as appropriate, in response to the Hong Kong SAR Government’s
policy on creating a barrier-free access physical environment for
persons with disabilities. We care about the customer experience in
our properties. We decorate the common areas with greenery, which
creates a warm and welcoming environment for our tenants and
visitors.

Protecting customer data privacy is a priority when it comes
to managing our relationships with our tenants. We implement
scrupulous procedures to protect customer data. Customer data are
only accessible by authorised personnel and handled with care.

We have implemented a tenant-focused management approach
called “Report and Resolve” to address the specific needs of our
tenants. Our property management team operates with a streamlined
structure, allowing them to promptly receive and address feedback
and suggestions from tenants in real-time. By adopting this approach,
we aim to resolve any issues or concerns immediately, ensuring a
high level of tenant satisfaction.
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R dHE8REXERRSE

OPERATING PRACTICES (cont’d)

Product Responsibility and Service Quality (cont’d)

Additionally, during the renewal process of rental contracts every two
years, we provide tenants with dedicated time to discuss any overall
suggestions or concerns they may have encountered throughout
their rental period. This allows us to proactively address any recurring
issues and make necessary improvements to enhance the overall
tenant experience. We take pride in the success of our “Report and
Resolve” management approach, as it has consistently achieved a
100% satisfaction rate among our tenants. This demonstrates our
commitment to actively engaging with our tenants, prioritizing their
feedback, and continuously striving to provide them with exceptional
service and support.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to operating with a high level of integrity
and accountability. We have zero tolerance for fraudulent behaviour,
corruption and any forms of bribery. Our principles and strong stance
against corruption, conflicts of interest and other malpractices are well
conveyed to our employees and the parties that we work with though
our Code of Conduct. To ensure adherence to our anti-corruption
principles, we provide relevant training programs that educate our
employees on ethical practices and the importance of maintaining
a corruption-free environment. These training initiatives contribute
to a culture of integrity and further emphasize our commitment to
preventing corrupt practices.

During the reporting period, there were no suspected or concluded
legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the Company
or its employees.

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR
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OPERATING PRACTICES (cont’d)

Community Investment

The Group is continuously committed to implementing and sustaining
rent assistance and relief programs for those who are going through
hardships. By providing continuous support to small business
owners who are facing challenging times, we aim to alleviate
temporary financial challenges and ensure the well-being of our
tenants. Additionally, we actively engage in community outreach and
engagement activities to contribute to the growth and thriving of the
local community, and aim to foster partnerships and collaborations
that promote economic resilience and enhance the overall vitality of
the community. Our dedication to assisting our tenants and actively
engaging with the community reflects our commitment to creating a
supportive environment where both individuals and businesses can
flourish and thrive.

Regulatory Compliance

The Group is committed to ensuring its businesses are operated
in compliance with relevant laws, rules and regulations. Regulatory
frameworks within which the Group operates are analysed and
monitored; internal policies are prepared and updated accordingly.
Workshops or trainings are also conducted where necessary to
strengthen the awareness and understanding of the Group’s internal
controls and compliance procedures.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to environmental protection, employment,
labour practices and operating practices.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - #HBREXEERRSE

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT HEENRE

The following social data are prepared in accordance with Reporting A Mt &8s =R S R S5 EE -
Guide.

Social KPIs Unit 2022/23 2021/22
HBERERIEE By  2022/23%F 2021/22%F

B1: Employment

Bi: &%
Total workforce No. of employees 16 16
BTHAE EE#HE

a: Number of employees by employment type
a: IR B

Full-time No. of employees 16 16
g EE#HE

Part-time No. of employees - -
A EE#HE

b: By gender

b: RMERIE D

Male No. of employees 8 9
St EE#A

Female No. of employees 8 7
g EE&A

c: By employee category
c:RETERED

Non-managers No. of employees 15 15
FEaER EE&A
Top managers No. of employees 1 1
e EE&A

d: By age group
d: REEKE D

20-29 No. of employees 0 1
20-295%, EE#A
30-39 No. of employees 2 0
30-395% BEHE
40-49 No. of employees 4 4
40-495%, EE2A
50-59 No. of employees 3 3
50-595% EE2A
60 or above No. of employees 7 8
603K A £ BEHE
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RE - #HBREXEERRSE

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (cont'd) HEEMRE (B
Social KPIs Unit 2022/23 2021/22
HEEBEENIEE B 2022/234%F 2021/224%

e: By geographical region

e IRIEH IR B2

Hong Kong No. of employees 16 16
EE EE&R

B2: Occupational Health and Safety (OHS)
B2: Bi¥REREZ 2

a. Work-related fatalities

a BT

Work-related fatalities reported Number 0 0
HBEHWETITH L=

Work-related fatality rate Percentage 0 0
AT T = ERiNsd

b. Lost days due to work injury Days 0 0
b. ATBEEATIERHE PN

B5: Supply Chain Management
B5: B EE
Number of suppliers in supply chain

HEsAnHEm e

Number of suppliers No. of suppliers 8 8
HrErmEA YEEE]

Number of suppliers by geographical region

B IE R I &) D H R R 2 B

Hong Kong

BB

Suppliers No. of suppliers 8 8
e HEEEE
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RIR #HEREXER

HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

S

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RIRBANERERIES

BEREXZMBERERRABTRSI

Reference/Remarks

SEEH B

Aspect A1 - Emissions

EEA1— S5

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and

greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

—RRIREE - @QBER - MO)ETHRITABEAZEN  BRERIIAEREYN

AR K e BT

KPIA1.A

AR AR IRIEIRAT
KPI A1.2

FASEAEIRIRAL.2

KPI'A1.3

BB INIEIRAL.3
KPI A1.4

FASRAEIIIEIRAL4
KPIA1.5

FASHAEEIRA15

KPI'A1.6

FASHAEUEIRA1.6

BHRERERAF

BELREZEZEMNELSOREBMER LA -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

et A M AR R B R -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse
gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.
BEE(HEHEN) ReREE (SE2)R=REBEENE (LA

)M (ER)TE °
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.

FTEEAEEEYRE (UAAEAE)R(WER)EE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity.

FRIEEEEEENRE (ARWEETE) R(WER)ZE -
Description of emission target(s) set, and steps taken to
achieve them.

EFTET LAV BEIN S B IR R R B 5 L B IR AT ERER B 205 o
Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set, and
steps taken to achieve them.
HEREEENEEEEMN L - R
RN ARED|E L B IR IR A 25 -

AFFET ML AR B

—E_ZFEFR
e

Environment — Greenhouse
Gas Emissions and Energy;
Waste Management

RIE—RERBHEE

R EEYER
Environmental Performance
Data Table

RIB R ERIR

Environmental Protection

IRIBRE
The Environment and
Natural Resources

RELBARER
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HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (cont’d) ERARIFHREEEANBRRS(8)

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RIWBENERERER

Reference/Remarks

SEEM B

Aspect A2 - Use of Resources

[BEA2—- &R

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water,

and other raw materials.

BREAER(BIERER - KEEAM RV B — AR BEE B

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total (kWh
in ’000s) and intensity.

BASRAE RUEIRA2.1 RERNEIDMERE R, SHEEREREE (UTET R

BIREE -
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity.
BARAE IEIRA2.2 BRKERTE -
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set, and steps

taken to achieve them.

FRERUIERA2.3 R PR ET SL A BE IR AR am B IR R A& B5E Lk B R P ERER A

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set, and steps taken
to achieve them.

FRAERIEIEA2.4 FUSREGE /KR ERI A AR - AR PTE] S8 K
AR R AEREL B RAAERIE 25 -

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

RSB BURIZA2.5 EXMPTAEEMBENEE AABTE) NEEESEMLE
(@A) -

Environmental Protection

RIRRE

Environmental Performance
Data Table

BEMAL SR

Environmental Protection

BARIRE

This is not considered
material to the Group as
our finished products do
not involve the usage of
packaging.

B EKm T RE
£ AEHAEEmS
WAEE -
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R dHE8REXERRSE

HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (cont'd)

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RINBENERERIER

BEREXZMBEEERABTRS(5)

Reference/Remarks

SEEM B

Aspect A3 - The Environment and Natural Resources
BEA3I-RERKXAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the
environment and natural resources.

BIEBEITAHRIBRRAERENEAZ B —RIFTEBR

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

MR RBEHRBERARAERNEATE R HKRERS
B ERTE °

R8RSR 1ZAS.

Aspect A4 - Climate Change

[BEA4— RIFE1L

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

BRI REHE R LRI SHETAEEXENERRFEEEEN —RIKTBHE

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

BASRAE RUEIRAL A B RN A HBETAELEYENEARKEFAEE
N EETTE -

Aspect B1 - Employment

EEB1—{E{E

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

—MIREE (K ROBEBTHETABEATEY - BTG REE  BEKE
o IERE - BRE - PEHRE - ot - RERUAREMEFE RENBEEER R
Rl o

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and

geographical region.
IR ERRD - FRARI K REI D HES MBS -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and

BRI A E1RB 1

KPIB1.2
geographical region.

BASRAE RSB .2 RIERI  FEAER Rtz E D E B RALL X -

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

Environmental Protection

RIIRE

Responding to Climate
Change
JEETR IR E b

Employment and Labour
Practice

BEMS

BB

Social Performance Report

HEERRE
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RE - #HBREXEERRSE

HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (cont’d) ERARIFHREEEANBRRS(8)

General Disclosure and KPIs Reference/Remarks
— R B M B SR A RS E SEZH BF

Aspect B2 - Health and Safety

[EEB2-#REZT 2

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant Health and Safety
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a

safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

—MRHER : (R - RO)ETHETAGEATEN  FREHLZ2THERRERRE @REZS
EEEERBRIEBEENRBEERLR -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of Social Performance Report
the past three years including the reporting period.

RSB RUEIRB2.1 BEZF(BEREH)BFEITHRIAB KL E - HEERRE

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

RSB RUEIEB2.2 EIBHEATIERS -

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

BSR4 HE1EB2.3 R P ER AN B BB R (R FR BR 22 48 - DA SRR T R B ERT5 EREEZ S
V% o

Aspect B3 - Development and Training

EmEB3 — & KiEH

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for Development and Training

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

EHERAEEBITIIEBENMB RN — R EBCR - #HIEIES) - R KE

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee  Development and Training
category.

BARAE N FE1RB3.1 R REEFAESHNZIEEB DL © EEPEEE]

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by

gender and employee category.

RAS A B 1RB3.2 RIERREEERE D - BREE RN IR
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R dHE8REXERRSE

HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (cont’d) ERARIFHREEEANBRRS(8)

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RINBENERERIER

Reference/Remarks

SEEM B

Aspect B4 - Labour Standards

[EEB4— % T 48|

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing

child and forced labour.

— MR - (@R RO)EBTEHEITABEATERN - AR IEE T k@25 TH)HE

RER ARSI -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.

RSB RUIE1EBA. 1 s B DB EA R R E T MR HIS T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

FASAEIRIRBA.2 T B3R BN BRR B RIS U ERERH) 225K

Aspect B5 - Supply Chain Management
[EEBS5— e EE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply

chain.

ER NIRRT Rt 2R — R BEEER -

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

BASR 4B 51RB5. 1 it E D HHERHEE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

BASR AR IE15B5.2 BRI AHERNED - MENITERENNHEERE
B ARBERTRERAE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BASRAE RUIE1EB6.3 R BB HEEEERSHRE L2 RRED - A
NABBBMIT MEE R A -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

BASR 48 51585 .4 f it AR BB R (R 2 2 FRIRIRE ma MR TS BV 1B 11 - AR
HERITRERGE -

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

LLabour Standards

Supply Chain Management

HIEsE IR

Social Performance Report

BB E

Supply Chain Management

e
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HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (cont'd)

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RINBENERERIER

BEREXZMBEEERABTRS(5)

Reference/Remarks

SEEM B

Aspect B6 - Product Responsibility

[EEB6—-EmEE

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

—MRIRE - (@K RO)EBETHRITABEATEY - ARMEHERNREHRE
Hee  BE RELRNEEE AR A EZNEBERERG
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls

for safety and health reasons.

FASAR IR 1RB6.1 EEXRCEXERABTRARE

Lt ©

2RI ALK E D

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

BASR AR 51586 .2 BN E an R RIS RO AR BHE LA EHI 0% -

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting

intellectual property rights.
BB RUIEEB6.3 i B g TR R ARFE RN ERE B BB -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

BB AE IE1RB6.4 RS S0E BIE R E m AR

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,

and how they are implemented and monitored.

Product Responsibility and
Service Quality

EmBEINMREEE

This is not applicable to
the Group’s nature of
operation.
RIFHERE
IR EEEE o

We have no such case

SR SEy

reported for the reporting
period.

WERME - NEEELLE
E b sy

This is not considered
material to the Group.
EHAKEMELTERK -
Product Responsibility and
Service Quality
EmETHNREES
Product Responsibility and
Service Quality

RSB IEIRB6.5 U B EBURRIE RALBBOR - UAREBRTRER L EmEENREEE
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R dHE8REXERRSE

HKEX REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX (cont’d) ERARIFHREEEANBRRS(8)

General Disclosure and KPIs

—RINBENERERIER

Reference/Remarks

SEEM B

Aspect B7 - Anti-corruption

[BEB7-R&ES

General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with relevant

laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,

extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

—RIEE  (QBCR  RO)ETHETAGEATEN BN IEHE 9% BFER

R R AERER AR o

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

RSB RUE1RBT .1 MERNEBITASIH EERETEEENE THARMER
BB RFA&ER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

RSB RUEIEBTY .2 HIPy S fE e MR WAZ T - A RAABEBIT REER L ©

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors
and staff.

FASRAERRIRBT.3 fimERRE TIRENRESHE -

Aspect B8 - Community Investment

[BEB8—HEIRE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

BRANR2ERTREEME N NREFERMEREXEESEE B/ EMm — R

FBUR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.

BB R EBS. 1 ETIEREE

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area.

FASRAEAIE1RBS.2 EFIHBMBAER -

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

Anti-corruption

R&ES

We have no concluded
legal cases regarding

corruptions for the reporting

period.
WREHE - AEBEDE
BB AARMY o

Community Investment

HEIRE
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
BB RS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT BYZBENRE

To the Members of Melbourne Enterprises Limited HEHBRERRATIKE
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability) (REBFMKZNBRAE)
OPINION =R

What we have audited EMEETHAR

The consolidated financial statements of Melbourne Enterprises B EBEAR(ANEEIEAF]) RHE
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiary (the “Group”), which are B AR (A TR E5£E ) 5N FEesE

set out on pages 68 to 131, comprise: 131 BERERE I EmE - 81 -
e the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 September 2023; o  A2023F9A30BRGAEERER

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the o  HEZHILFEMNLGE2ERER
year then ended,;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year o  EHZEZHIFIFENGAEREHK
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then o HEZHILFENGEAESRER &
ended; and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which e LA RERNT  BETEESTEE

include significant accounting policies and other explanatory REAMEREER -
information.
Our opinion EPNER

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and & ffIRAE  ZSHGAPHKHERCBEEET S
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 TR A€ BAAEERERELEBNDEEM
September 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and FEHRIRT HEBER2023F9H30HK
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance #RAMERALEEELB FFENGEAE
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by BRI\ RGERESRE @ WEEREB(A
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) BRI )& Akl -

and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
B M % BT R S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

RRHNER

BPERBEBESHMASEMAKBTEE
SHERIDEITERET o BIPEZF LRI T ARIE
MBS ERNRE ZBEI R E 5 M5
BRAENEE IO PIEE— T -

HFIRE - RAFFESHELRERETEN
EEARPINET B RIREER

By

REBFESAMAGRMNCERSE
BRSTADATEREI TR - HABEL
B BEEE - YEERTTARNEMERE
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

B M % B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BREITER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RB#FETEHEERBERMNZELLE - 25
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ¥ AH#F A M BEREN BN RAZTENS
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 18 o L EIHZ AR FBTREEA VB R
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial &M EE REEITEEN - AT EHE
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we  &£EIFRHEBNE R - RAEETP R
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. The key audit VBRI BT EE AR EME 2 HE -

matter identified in our audit is related to valuation of investment

properties.

Key Audit Matter
BEETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMONEANAEEBEETSE

Valuation of investment properties

REMEZfHE

Refer to notes 3(f), 5(a) and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements
B2 E M BIRERMEES() - 5@ k14 °

As at 30 September 2023, the Group’s investment properties
were stated at fair value of HK$7,064.0 million, with a fair
value loss of HK$221.1 million recorded in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year.

20239 A30H + EREZREMERAABESBKETORE
68,4008 AR - ERRERE 2 E K X BGEB2(82,1108
TTZ AR BIERE -

Management has engaged an independent external valuer to
perform a valuation of the investment properties. The external
valuer used the direct comparison approach in the valuation of
the investment properties. The valuation of these investment
properties requires significant judgment and estimates by the
management and the valuer.
ERECIINEB A ERMUAEIREMFEETHE - HERME
REELBUEHMANREMEEME - ZFREME G
BEFEEEIRE R ERNEREZ 26 R A -
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Qur procedures in relation to the valuation of
investment properties included:

B RENREEZRFEE

o We understood management’s controls
and processes for determining the valuation
of investment properties and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and the level of other inherent risk
factors.

e BMTHRTEERBHNEREMEGLENE
HAREF - WEBERGHENETENIZE
NEME S R EEA K - 77 T ERE
aRBRA Y [E A g o

° We evaluated the competence, capability and
objectivity of the independent external valuer.

o  HMENHINEEBLGERZER  HEHM
BREEIL
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

B M % B RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
ERET B

BREITERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRMONESANAEEBREETSE

In determining a property’s valuation, the valuer took into
account properties of a similar nature, condition or location
and made adjustments to comparable market transactions to
arrive at the final valuation.

REFEWMEMGER  HEMEZERAUMEZME RS
HEL - WH AR T ISR S IERHBERREMAE -

We focused on this area due to the fact that there are
significant judgement and estimation uncertainty involved in
the valuation of investment properties.

AR EREMENHERANREBNGEFELERHE T
BRAHEEMN - BPS%EER SERETEIE -

ERREARRAR —ZT_=FFHK
I

° With the assistance of our internal valuation
experts, we performed the following:

o HTHRMZAMBEEERBEIT » HIVETH
EIREFERE

- We obtained the valuation reports
for the investment properties, held
discussions with the valuer to assess
the appropriateness of the valuation
methodologies and key assumptions
such as the market transactions used
(including adjustments to comparable
market transactions) for determining the
fair value for the purpose of the Group’s
financial statements.

— BMERGTHREEBMREMEZHE
WE o BELER R - AR A EMEER
EWEE TR FERE - MAAEANT
BRS(BIEHALEMISX 5 AE)
ERBEANREET E5EEMBmMERAZ
RNAfBIE -

- We compared, on a sample basis,
the market transactions used by the
valuer to our knowledge of the property
market and published external data,
such as transaction records by property
agencies and the Land Registry, where
appropriate.

—  RPImESINEAER AT ISR 5 0
BATE Y E TS5 2 R R B 2 SN
IR ERER T HMFMENRZS
SR (RE R EL LR o

° We assessed the adequacy of the disclosures
related to the valuation of investment
properties in the context of HKFRSs disclosure
requirements.

o HBMAETEEAMBRELNEERE
T BEREMERENRESSEH

Based on the procedures performed, we found the
methodologies used in preparing the valuations of
the investment properties were appropriate and the
key assumptions were supported by the available
evidence.

EREMTHEAER - BHMIEE BSEEMER
FRNTEZEEN  BXZEBRREEAK - 532
BIRGECE SE I
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
BB RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
BB RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 405 of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

BB ET R M B RRAENE
£
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BB RS

BB ET R M B RRAENE
6D

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based

HEESMRA SRR EERIE
SEHAFT AR REN S -

HEERABELESTERNBEN
e SR  IRIZFTERMEERE -
ERAFAEEFENBERARHEAT
EENE - WMAlRe g SRERR
BRERLNELERRRE - MRAR
REEERTHEEY - AL EERZE
bR & hiRs A& T B A IS MR
FRRRKE - REABHEETRE -
A MEEERRFRREER - ZIW

iR RN ZBEN R E B IEPAESH R

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s

report. However, future events or conditions may cause the FHREE o AR - RRFIEKIE RIS
Group to cease to continue as a going concern. B BESEETERELE -

TBEEUEHRROEREIRA - 4
BARER  BIEEE  UNGETER
REAHERMZSMEE -

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the e
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the o 5 BEERNTESESIDNHERE
BERRE  HENEITRE  AEYH
BEMBRRERER - BMBE B
SEBEEGM - BEBABT - BB
EiERAEEIHER -

financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

PREMEIEIN RPEEZEEGEB T
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant  ZI Bt & E - B LHE - EAET B
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control % » B E R AR 3 B H R ERHE HI AT
Al KERFE ©

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(cont’d)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Ho Chiu Ping, Dennis.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 15 December 2023

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

BB ET R M B RRAENE
6D
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mEZHWER

Year ended 30 September 2023 220239 H30H 1FF/E

2023 2022
20234 20224
Note HK$000 HK$'000
BaE BT T BT
Revenue & 6 157,894 158,707
Operating costs R CID N (40,965) (35,858)
Gross profit EH 116,929 122,849
Other income A 7 7,754 1,108
Administrative expenses THER (16,303) (12,440)
Changes in fair values of investment & E¥E QA AEBEBE D
properties 14 (221,126) (220,800)
Loss before taxation BRI ATE IR 8 (112,746) (109,283)
Income tax expenses BB 10 (16,419) (18,107)
Loss for the year attributable to BEREMAFEER
equity holders (129,165) (127,390)
Other comprehensive loss Hitt2mEE
Item that will not be classified R BES LR HE
subsequently to profit or loss
Fair value loss on financial asset NAREBEFAEMEEKE
at fair value through other MNERMEEMN AR EBEEE
comprehensive income (16,479) (9,167)
Total comprehensive loss BRELMAFELZEERALE
attributable to equity holders (145,644) (136,557)
Loss per share BRER
Basic and diluted ERREE 12 HK$(5.17) HK$(5.10)

The notes on pages 73 to 131 form part of the consolidated financial ~ F73E 131 BM M ARG A BRI —
statements. 5 o
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HEEERER

As at 30 September 2023 F2023F9H30H

30 September 30 September

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
9H30H 9H30H
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B aE BT T BT
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Yz - eSS N ERE 13 155 55
Investment properties "EYHE 14 7,064,000 7,282,700
Investment accounted for using the 1&gz A ABRIIIRE
equity method 16 = -
Financial asset at fair value through AR REERT AE M2 E R
other comprehensive income TRIEE 18 72,627 89,106
Advances to an investee company MWK EREER 18 29,605 29,605
Deferred rent receivables BIEEWES 19 221 2,228
7,166,608 7,403,694
Current assets RBEE
Debtors, other receivables, deposits ~ FEUBRFX « B EUKERR « BT
and prepayments Be MBI 19 11,094 9,448
Cash and bank balances R MIRITFK 20 254,113 244,429
265,207 253,877
Current liabilities REEE
Creditors, accruals and deposits JEMEER - BN ERNMEYRIZS 21 40,378 40,602
Current tax payable BIEAFE B8 18,275 8,824
... 08658 49426
Net current assets REREF® 206,554 204,451
Total assets less current liabilities ﬁgﬁgﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ _______________________________ 7,373,162 7,608,145
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Provision for long service payments ~ REIRG & # B 15,363 14,756
Deferred tax liabilities BAETIEA G 22 2,466 2,412
L. S 17,168
Net assets EEFE 7,355,333 7,590,977
ERREBRLAT —T_=FFRH 69



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HEEERER

As at 30 September 2023 F2023F9H30H

30 September 30 September

2023 2022
2023F 20224F
9H30H 9H30H
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BaE BT T BT
Equity xR
Share capital &N 23 125,000 125,000
Fair value through other NAREBEFAHMEEYEE
comprehensive income reserve T 72,626 89,105
Retained profits RE &N 7,157,707 7,376,872
Total equity HMEER 7,355,333 7,590,977
Chung Yin Shu, Frederick Chung Wai Shu, Robert
EEE EEE
Director Director
EF 3

The notes on pages 73 to 131 form part of the consolidated financial 5 73E 131 B i ARG A SRR —
statements. 5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

RERZEDXR

Year ended 30 September 2023 220239 H30H 1FF/E

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
Share income Retained
capital reserve profits Total
NAREE
A
RA  2EKERE REERA k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
Balance at 30 September 2021 20219830 A £th 125,000 98,272 7,594,262 7,817,534
Loss for the year attributable to equity B REIGAFEEE
holders - - (127,390) (127,390)
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair AR/ BE AR M2 ERE
value through other comprehensive NEMEENRABESRE
income - (9,167) - (9,167)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 2 EEE 1R - (9,167) (127,390) (136,557)
2021 final dividend paid 20214 BRI E - - (45,000) (45,000)
2022 interir dividend paid 00204 B R IR &, - - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance at 30 September 2022 120229 B30 A &84 125,000 89,1056 7,376,872 7,590,977
Loss for the year attributable to equity IR FEIGAFE E 1R
holders - - (129,165) (129,165)
Fair value loss on financial asset at fair AR/ BER AR M2 EKE
value through other comprehensive NERMEENAAEBERE
income - (16,479) - (16,479
Total comprehensive loss for the year 2 E W EE - (16,479) (129,165) (145,644)
2022 final dividend paid 20204 B REIRE - - (45,000) (45,000)
2023 interir dividend paid 20234 B R IR & - - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance at 30 September 2023 H2023F9 B30 B &84 125,000 72,626 7,157,707 7,355,333

The notes on pages 73 to 131 form part of the consolidated financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

REBREMRER

Year ended 30 September 2023 220239 H30H 1FF/E

2023 2022
20234F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Cash flows from operating activities EETH - HERE
Loss before taxation LEEBE (112,746) (109,283)
Adjustments for: FE
Interest income FLEUA (7,609) (973)
Depreciation e 33 108
Changes in fair values of investment WEWMERNABEZES
properties 221,126 220,800
Operating profit before working capital changes 38 & AR & BBl 2 4 534 7 100,804 110,652
Decrease/(increase) in deferred rent receivables, IELEUWTE S - FEUBRR « Efth
debtors, other receivables, deposits and EUERFR ~ B AR MIE K
prepayments 2R () 850 (1,637)
Decrease in creditors, accruals and deposits ERIRR - BN EARESIZS
R (224) (4,151)
Increase/(decrease) in provision for long service KEARFS & B & 218N CRd)
payments 607 (87)
Net cash generated from operations BEEE RS FE 102,037 104,777
Interest received S E 7,120 548
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAENEH (6,914) (20,927)
Net cash from operating activities __~ EXEBPEREEFE 102,243 84,398
Cash flows from investing activity RETHZHERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment A - MBS RERE (133) (79)
Purchase of investment properties A EYE (2,426) -
Net cash used ininvesting activity CERBERREFR (25%9) . (79)
Cash flows from financing activity BMETHCHERE
Dividends paid BRI B (90,000) (90,000)
Netcashusedinfinancingactivity = BA=DEERSFE UL (90,000)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and bank Be RBTERZEM CRD)
balances FRE 9,684 (5,681)
Cash and bank balances at beginning of the RENK 2R e RIRTTFER
year 244,429 250,110
Cash and bank balances at end of the year RELER 2R e RIBITER 254,113 244,429
The notes on pages 73 to 131 form part of the consolidated financial 5 73E 131 B i ARG A SRR —

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

GENERAL INFORMATION

Melbourne Enterprises Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The address of
its registered office is Rooms 2102-4, Melbourne Plaza, 33
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The shares of the Company
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The Company and its subsidiary (together the “Group”) are
principally engaged in property investment and investment
holding in Hong Kong.

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the
Board of Directors on 15 December 2023.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
as modified by the revaluation of investment properties and
financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”), which have been measured at fair value.

ERREARRAR —ZT_=FFHK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont'd) 2. mEEEE)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in RETEB AU B WEE N ERE
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical EECAETHRSEE - ENFE
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise EEECRARNEE SRR AEFRIT
its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting EEAE - P RREAE S EERE
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment 2B - O R EMBRERBER
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates R E 2 €l - A TR aEsHh 4%
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are B o

disclosed in note 5 below.

(a) Adoption of amendments to existing (a) BRAERIFIEET

standards

The Group has adopted the following amendments to REBEDHEM T EAREFRE

existing standards which are relevant to the Group’s WEB - WEREE2023F9A

operations and are mandatory for the financial year ended 30H [FE B = FE A w9 £ R /918

30 September 2023: HE

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and BAEGER WE - EERS
Equipment — Proceeds F16mNEE] E-HTERR
before Intended Use RIEYFT1S B

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of AR BBRUSR-E
Fulfiling a Contract EITHMEE]  TTERMKAE

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual BRAMBmEE HHSIERR
Framework AIE3mEE]  3IA

HKFRSs Amendments Annual Improvements to BRMBEmE  BARBWmE
HKFRSs 2018-2020 RERIEERT 428112018~
Cycle 2020 HiR

& it

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised) Merger Accounting for SEHESIEST RIS G
Common Control (1&3T) affgrA
Combinations

The adoption of the amendments to standards does not R EER ST H AR E RS

have significant effect on the results and financial position FERPBRRIT BERFE o

of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont'd)

(b) New standard, interpretation and
amendments to existing standards which are
not yet effective

The following new standard and interpretation,
amendments to existing standards are mandatory for
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 October
2023 or later periods but which the Group has not early
adopted:

HKFRS 17 and Amendments
to HKFRS 17

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-Current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar

Two Model Rules

ERREARRAR —ZT_=FFHK
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (cont'd) 2. mEEE®E)
(b) New standard, interpretation and (b) EAREMNIETER - 25
amendments to existing standards which are RERIWIEET (&)

not yet effective (cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability BB GTERE2 s r] KRk
SREER]
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and BRANBMEER SEREEMNEE
Leaseback F165RHER] =R
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets BRAMBMEER REZEHEE
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its FI0RLEAE ATNEER
Associate or Joint Venture FHERIE28TRN) FHEMEE
EHl HESFE
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial BAREBESR  MBHRRII®m-
(2020) Statements — Classification by (2020%F) ERAERE
the Borrower of a Term Loan SARENE
that Contains a Repayment BIEFHEH
on Demand Clause BEXRHMDE
The Group will apply these new standard, interpretation $’$ B NZE R E R R E IR
and amendments to existing standards as and when they TAERMME 5T MBS A e T A
become effective. The Group has already commenced %NFH o REEE HBFHEEHA
an assessment of the related impact to the Group and SECEBTE - BRIEAEE
is not yet in a position to state whether any substantial AEEZIEGHEERYBE
changes to the Group’s significant accounting policies and Bz 2magsRAmEET
presentation of the financial information will be resulted. Al E#
76 Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

3.

BHRERERAF
I

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary
made up to 30 September and include the Group’s share
of the results for the year.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group has power over an entity, is exposed
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect these returns
through its power over the entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

ZEZ=FFRH

3.

TEEBEME

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEEHBE®)

POLICIES (cont'd)

(b) Subsidiaries (cont'd) (b) MIBARE(E)

78

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to
the former owner of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date. On the acquisition by
acquisition basis, the Group recognises a non- controlling
interest in our acquiree at the date of acquisition either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. If the
business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying
amount of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in
the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date through profit or loss.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree at the
date of acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is
less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESHHEEHBE®)

POLICIES (cont'd)

(b) Subsidiaries (cont'd) (b) MIBARE(E)

BHRERERAF
I

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
indicator of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the
date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is
the carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as associated
companies, joint ventures or financial assets. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

The Company’s investment in the subsidiary is carried at
cost less provision for impairment losses. The result of the
subsidiary is accounted for by the Company on the basis
of dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. FESTEHEME®)
POLICIES (cont'd)
(c) Associates (c) BE&E QT
An associate is an entity over which the Group Hﬁﬁfé’“jﬁ$ﬁl£ﬁ7ﬁiﬁ
has significant influence but not control, generally ENEvEEHEZ AT —R

80

accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50%
of the voting rights.

Investments in associates are accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity
method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost.
Investments in associates include goodwill (net of any
accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition.
Investments in associates are carried at cost less
provision for impairment losses in the Company’s financial
statements. The results of associates are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend income.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or losses
of associates is recognised in the Group’s profit or
loss and the share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the share
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. For equity accounting
purpose, accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(d)
0]

(ii)

BHRERERAF

Investments and the financial assets

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

° those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss), and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at
FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

—E_ZFEFR

3.

TEETBERBE )

d) REREBMEE

@

(i)

7E
AEBRATHERNYES
BMEEETOE

s RBREURNAEEFE
(HEZFHr A LS
mEREE) TR

e HNHEHBKATFENS
BMEE -

ZOBREURNTEEE SR
BEMNEKRAUNZEE

MERRTRERE -

HRURRBEFTENS R
BE  HWaSME R AR
mE R EE o HRNIE
RHMHERTARE  H
Yeek MBS B R AT E R EUR R
AREBENIGERR S 1E
SRR E RO R T A EL 4R
ERNAAREEFERLRSR
Bt ARMEERE -

EYERRBARNEHE
BB - AREA Y
FRRERTEDS -

TER A UL BT

ERAABEREEN SR
BERXSBER - X58
REAEEAZBERLE
BENRH - ZRRESHE
ERTRENEND BBk
Bz BEAEEERER
TEeRMEEMBE AT
BoERMNEM  2REE
BPAR  EHERR o

81



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

3.

82

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(d)

Investments and the financial assets (cont'd)

(iii) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its
debt instruments as amortised cost where assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. Interest income from these financial assets
is included in interest income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange
gains and losses.

3.

TEETBERBE )

d RERETBEEE)

(iii)

it &

HR T BRARSEE
AAEHEEEHHARSENS
RMEE  ARENAERE
BN LRI HZ B BN ES%
HEMEENXHERETT
g R - EIARREER
EREEHFTABENER
BEMBORZERTAR

S o

E\

HRBEERANITET AN
TREE  AREUEREAS
REZEERTRELTER
REARS MBS o

E¥ITA

BT AMNRETEEORRN
AEBEEEZEENRHR
AANZEENRERER
B o WRFTA AEA R3R
TRENEE  MRERR
EREERKYASIAE
BT+ ZER B BI DA SR BRAK
RETEZEE - ZFLME
RN BHA A BB A F X
At E FTABBRA - &IE
EREEEMNKEREEE
EitAmEeEEEEER - X
A8 5 Wy an AR — RIFITR
EHEMmY R (BE)F

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(d)
(iii)

BHRERERAF

Investments and the financial assets (cont'd)

Measurement (cont’d)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and
losses to profit or loss following the derecognition
of the investment. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income as other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other
changes in fair value.
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3.

84

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(d)

Investments and the financial assets (cont'd)

(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9,
which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.
For other financial assets at amortised cost, as
permitted by a transitional provision in HKFRS 9, the
provision for these financial assets will be determined
based on whether their credit risk are low at each
reporting date, and, if so, by recognising a 12-month
expected losses amount. If the financial asset is not
of a low credit risk, the corresponding provision for
doubtful debts will be recognised as equal to lifetime
expected losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3.

BHRERERAF
I

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(e) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of items. Subsequent
costs are included in the carrying amount of the assets
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the
cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repair
and maintenance costs are expensed in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the period in
which they are incurred. The carrying amount of an asset
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the carrying value of an asset is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated to allocate their cost or carrying values less
accumulated impairment losses to their estimated residual
values using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of 5 to 10 years. The assets’ residual values
and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at the end of each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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3.

86

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(f)

Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for
capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by
the Group, is classified as investment property.

Investment property comprises land held under operating
leases and buildings held under finance leases. Land held
under operating leases are classified and accounted for
as investment property when the rest of the definition of
investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost,
including related transaction costs and where applicable
borrowing cost. After initial recognition, investment
property is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined
by professional qualified valuers on an open market value
basis at the end of each reporting period. Changes in fair
value are recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the carrying amount
of the asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group
and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

3.

BHRERERAF
I

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(9)

(h)

Impairment of investment in a subsidiary,
associates and non-financial assets

Non-financial assets that have an indefinite useful life, for
example goodwill, or have not yet been available for use
are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Other assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The
carrying amount of an asset is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the carrying amount of the
asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income for the amount by which the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair
value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purpose
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped as cash-
generating units for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of
the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment testing of the investments in a subsidiary
and associates is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary or
associates in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Cash and bank balances

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
bank balances includes cash on hand, deposits held at
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less and bank
overdrafts.
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3.

88

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(i)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services provided, stated net of discounts returns and
value added taxes. The Group recognises revenue when
the amount of revenue can be reliably measured; when
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to
the entity; and when specific criteria have been met for
each of the Group’s activities, as described below. The
Group bases its estimates of return on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(i) Rental

Rental is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. When the Group provides
incentives to its tenants, the cost of incentives will
be recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line
basis, as a reduction of rental income. The difference
between the gross invoiced amount of rental and
operating lease rental recognised over the lease term
is recognised as deferred rent receivables.

(i) Service fees

Property management service fee is recognised
when services are rendered.

(iii) Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-
impaired financial assets the effective interest rate
is applied to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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3.

BHRERERAF
I

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(i)

@)

(k)

Revenue recognition (cont’d)
(iv) Dividend income

Dividend is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Operating leases
Group as the lessor of operating leases

Lease income from operating leases where the Group acts
as the lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining
the operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the underlying asset and recognised as expenses
over the lease term on the same basis as lease income.
Lease incentives are accounted as in note (j)()) above. The
respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet
based on their nature.

Current and deferred taxation
(a) Current income tax

The current taxation is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the balance sheet date in the country where the
Company, its subsidiary and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected
to be paid to the tax authority.
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3.

90

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (cont'd)

(k) Current and deferred taxation (cont'd)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of
goodwill, the deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

The deferred tax liability in relation to investment
property that is measured at fair value is determined
assuming the property will be recovered entirely
through sale.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

3.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(k) Current and deferred taxation (cont’d)

(b)

(c)

BHRERERAF

Deferred income tax (cont’d)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally,
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only where
there is an agreement in place that gives the group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiary and associates only to the
extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient
taxable profit available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and when the
deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are
offset where the entity has a legally enforceable
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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3.

92

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

()

Employee benefits

@

(i)

(iii)

Employee long service payments

Employees’ entitlements to long service payments
are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for long
service payments as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme

The Company contributes to a Mandatory Provident
Fund (“MPF”) scheme under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
The scheme is a defined contribution scheme
managed by an independent trustee and is available
to all employees. The MPF is funded by payments
from employees and by the Company, and provide
benefits linked to contributions and investment
returns on the scheme. Contributions to the scheme
are recognised as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income (operating profit) in the year
to which the contributions relate.

Bonus plan

Provision for bonus plan is recognised when the
Company has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation
can be made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(m) Foreign currencies

0]

(i)

BHRERERAF

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK dollars (HK$), which is the Company’s functional
and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss for the
year.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part
of fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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3.

94

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(n)

(o)

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements in the financial period when the
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
or directors, where appropriate.

Trade and other debtors

Trade debtors are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as
non-current assets.

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is conditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for expected credit losses.

In the event that lease incentives, including rent free
periods are given, such incentives are recognised as
deferred rent receivables. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental income
on a straight-line basis.
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3.

BHRERERAF
I

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(p)

(q)

Trade creditors

Trade creditors are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Trade creditors are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade creditors are recognised initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events,
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

—E_ZFEFR
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (cont'd)

(r)

(s)

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Government subsidies

Subsidies from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
subsidy will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions. Government subsidies relating
to costs are deferred and recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE ESTIMATION

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks and

the Group’s overall risk management policy seeks to minimise

potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

The Group continues to control financial risk in a conservative

approach to safeguard the interest of shareholders.

(@) Creditrisk

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from deposits
with banks, advances to an investee company, debtors,
other receivables and deposits. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’
failure to perform their obligations as at the balance sheet
dates in relation to each class of recognised financial asset
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
balance sheets.
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BHEREERAABEEGE

(#8)

(@) EERBE)

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4.
VALUE ESTIMATION (cont’d)

(@) Credit risk (cont'd)

BHRERERAF
I

The Group considers the probability of default from
initial recognition of assets and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis
by close monitoring against established credit policies
in each of its core business. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the assets, generally on
individual basis, as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition.

For trade debtors and deferred rent receivables in relation
to rental income, the Group carries out regular review
on these balances and follow-up action on any overdue
amounts to minimise exposures to credit risk. The Group
measures the lifetime expected credit losses based on the
outstanding balances with debtors, offset with the deposit
placed to the Group by the counterparties or the assets
held by the counterparties expected to be frozen by the
court for confiscation, and historical credit loss experience
adjusted by the current and forecast economic conditions
that may affect the ability of the counterparties to settle
receivables.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to
these receivables as the customer bases are widely
dispersed in different sectors and industries. The
exposures to these credit risks are closely monitored on
an ongoing basis using established credit policies.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. HMBEREERAAEBEEGE

VALUE ESTIMATION (cont'd) (&)

(@) Credit risk (cont’d) (a) EERKESE)
Impairment on financial assistance provided to investee RETHIRERARNP KR
company such as loan receivable, is measured as either flanfE W E F 2 #Eabiz 1218 A 8
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected EHEEEESIEHEREER
credit losses, depending on whether there has been a BitE  BUAREGERR BV
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, IREREBEKRIELA - EEET
through the management’s critical assessment on HHEEEEMA KBS - BE
the recoverable amounts based on underlying assets, SR - B R IEREEAR R
historical repayment pattern, the actual and expected AR —MTI5EAE - H—EI
changes in business performance and general market R BV EREEERR AR
default rate. If a significant increase in credit risk of a A BEBESUEBRESRE
receivable has occurred since initial recognition, then loss EBBEE -
allowance is measured as lifetime expected credit losses.
Deposits are placed with high credit-quality financial BERETFRRNEE RIT 2 B ik
institutions such balances are considered to be of low risk. & o

(b) Liquidity risk (b) REBESRE
The Group aims to maintain prudent liquidity risk rEBEFARRE RASEE
management and flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient BENS#EEERDECRRE
cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s working capital BRE2EE AEBEZHES
requirement is generally financed by its rental income. BEE®  FEREHESHRA -
Creditors and deposits are due within one year. EREFEERIZEEN —FR

B o

(c) Currency risk (c) SMERPE
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong, and most of REBEZTERBALEER - K
the Group’s commercial transactions, recognised assets EEARBOHEERZHMEHER
and liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. In MEERBBEHUNEEE -5
the opinion of the Directors, the Group’s exposure to the EEERAEEZINERR AR
foreign currency risk is minimal. RIEBEHL o

(d) Capital management (d) EXER

98

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4. HMBEREERAAEBEEGE

VALUE ESTIMATION (cont’d) (%)

(d) Capital management (cont'd) (d) EXEEE)
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the BTHFNFARERERE K&
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to EeRBRNTRRACKRESE
shareholders or issue new shares. NEBEATHAR ©
The Group did not have any borrowings at 30 September REEE 20234 202259 H30
2023 and 2022. The Group uses equity to finance its A B|AERMEE - AEEAEZR
operation. EREBER o

(e) Fair value estimation (e) AAREBEMLE

BHRERERAF
I

Financial instruments that are measured in the balance
sheet at fair value are disclosed by level of the following
fair value measurement hierarchy:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is,
derived from prices) (level 2).
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o HENERBE) MK
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REEXRBERE(E_-F
AR o

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on o  EMFEERAERMIFEE
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) ZBESBEEE (BT
(level 3). BRER) (E=FR) -

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active
markets are based on quoted market prices at the end
of the reporting period. A market is regarded as active
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from
an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing
service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on
an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used
for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1. None of
the instruments is included in level 1 as at 30 September
2023 and 2022.
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4.

100

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE ESTIMATION (cont’d)

(e) Fair value estimation (cont'd)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the
use of observable market data where it is available and
rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are
observable, the instrument is included in level 2. None of
the instrument is included in level 2 as at 30 September
2023 and 2022.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3. Unobservable inputs were used to determine the fair
value of financial asset at FVOCI, which is included in level
3.

For the year ended 30 September 2023, there were no
transfer of financial assets of the Group between different
levels of the fair value hierarchy.
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 4., BIBRREERAABEEGE
VALUE ESTIMATION (cont'd) (48)

() A2REBEEMEHEEM®E)

(e) Fair value estimation (cont'd)

BHRERERAF
I

The following table presents the Group’s financial
instruments that are measured at fair value at 30
September 2023 and 2022:

TRINRAEER20234F %2022
FOABHERANBETENS
BT A :

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Level 3 Level 3
B=E E=E
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Financial asset at fair value through AR R BEFAEM 2 mINEEE
other comprehensive income PRIEE 72,627 89,106

Changes in financial asset at FVOCI in level 3 financial
instrument for the year ended 30 September 2023 and
2022 were set out in note 18iii).

As at 30 September 2023 and 2022, the fair value of
an unlisted financial asset at fair value through other
comprehensive income is determined by adjusted net
asset method with reference to market value of the golf
courses and related commercial and residential properties
assessed by an independent professional valuer, using
discounted cash flow method, direct market comparison,
residual method and income capitalisation method for
respective properties. The directors consider that this
valuation technique is more relevant given that the golf
courses and related commercial and residential properties
are the major and principal underlying assets of the
financial asset. This financial asset at fair value through
other comprehensive income is included in level 3.
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102

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that may have a significant effect on the carrying
amounts of assets are as follows:

(@) Valuation of investment properties

The fair value of each investment property is individually
determined at each balance sheet date by independent
valuers on a market value assessment. The fair value is
based on the direct comparison method with reference
to current sale prices in an active market for properties
of similar nature, condition or location. In the absence of
such information, the valuer determines the amount within
a range of reasonable fair value estimates. In making its
judgment, the valuer considers information from a variety
of sources including current sale prices in an active market
for properties of different nature, condition or location,
adjusted to reflect those differences.

Judgment is required to determine the principal valuation
assumptions to determine the fair value of the investment
properties.

At 30 September 2023, if the market value of investment
properties had been 10% higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, the carrying value of the Group’s
investment properties would have been HK$706.4 million
(2022: HK$728.3 million) higher/lower and the Group's
loss before tax would have been decreased/increased by
HK$706.4 million (2022: HK$728.3 million).

BARETHEE R A

REEFEHEE RBREETRHE - X
PUBTE& S M M REREE - BT
ABRREETIEATHEEREREY
ESE

AREBGARIELEE RBRE - MATE
Hr gt B REEAERLER -
HIREME 2 FEEREEREATE
B RERAT

() REMEzZDIABEMGLE

B-—REVMEZANBEREL
MEMREE RIRTISER A
MRTE - A BEDZEZRLER
TESERRRTISHAUYE
ZMEE - GROR SR 2 RITE
& o WMERZ BRAER - AR
S HEIAREZANEE
MEHER - RELHIER - 4
BB ZEEZRERKR - B
REEEEZ TSP TARMEE
R RE 2 MR 2 RAITEAS -
WAEH B IA SRR _EA ] o

RNBEREMEAREEZE
ZEERRET S LA -

20239 A30R © HMIREME
ZWEBEE LA TB10% M
FIEEMASREEFTE - 8
AEBZREMEZEHRES
T BB 706,400,000 7T
(20224 : 7% 728,300,0007T )
RAEEZBRBAIEEE Tk,
| F+ 38 # 706,400,000 7T ( 2022
4 : B#728,300,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 5. BRSTHHERAMEE)
JUDGMENTS (cont'd)
(b) Fair value of financial asset at FVOCI (b) UAAREBEFAHMEEK
mHNERMEE
The fair value of financial asset at FVOCI that is not traded RBEERMSEENUNRAE
in an active market is determined by using valuation Eif A\ Et AN EemEE
techniques. The Group uses its judgment to select a WARBESHAGMERTTmE
method (i.e. adjusted net asset method) and make E o AEEMBHEER &7
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions EAERAEFEERE) b E
at the end of each reporting period. E*E?infliﬁziﬁﬁ?ﬁ?‘é IRy BY T 3%
BERVEH R ©
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. DHWEHR
The Board collectively has been identified as the chief EESCWHERNATIEEERRE - F
operating decision makers. The Board reviews the Group’s EEFBREMHAEE 2 AEPRIR - LAFY
internal reporting in order to assess performance and allocate HRBELRARER -
resources.
The Board considers property investment in Hong Kong as the EEeRAEEBETYERENEE
sole operating segment of the Group. ZE—EEDE -
2023 2022
2023F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT TT
(@ Revenue (@) W=
Property investment LES g}
Rental income GERAON 139,159 140,864
Property management fee income MESEBEILA 18,735 17,843
157,894 158,707
(b)  Contribution to loss before (b) HERBIAIBE
taxation
Property investment — Rental MERE - HEER
operation 108,380 111,517
Changes in fair values of investment KEMERAREBEIRD
properties (221,126) (220,800)
Loss before taxation BrE AT E 1B (112,746) (109,283)
Revenue comprises rental and service income from investment Wk (BNE X% ) BIE kg T B REME
properties in Hong Kong. 2 e RRBERA -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

104

OTHER INCOME 7. HgA
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T AT TT
Bank interest income HRITH BHA 7,609 973
Sundry income EELON 145 135
7,754 1,108
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8. MRBiATESIE
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Loss before taxation is stated after BR7% AT E R E Bk ¢
charging:
Outgoings in respect of investment KEMEZ BB L
properties 39,250 34,536
Directors’ emoluments (note 9(a)) EE= 2 (FIFE9(@)) 2,605 2,527
Auditor’s remuneration 1% EL R B & 916 999
Depreciation (note 13) TE(MFE13) 33 108
Staff costs (excluding Directors’ BTER(TRREESHS)
emoluments)
Salaries and other emoluments (note) Hre REMME () 6,081 5,393
Long service payments RHRES 3,491 260
Contributions to mandatory provident EHERESHER
fund scheme 120 120
Note: For the year ended 30 September 2022, wages subsidies of MizE : HE2022F9A30H ILFE @ KEF
HK$346,000 from the Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) BERBABEIEESE TR
under the Anti-epidemic Fund of the HKSAR Government were BT E WA 346,000t TE
net off in salaries and other emoluments. The ESS aims to BEEHF e REMMEPES - [{R
provide time-limited financial support to employers to retain their mENEIEEFABRETIZHER
employees who may otherwise be made redundant as a result of BRI - BB ETIH
the coronavirus disease 2019. e MRB A REE A 20197 AR

SRRBHIEHNES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ BEERSHRITHAE#MS
EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EE=M<

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BT T

Fees e 1,091 1,100

Salaries and other emoluments FHe MEMme 1,255 1,201

Long service payments RHRE® 259 226

2,605 2,527

Each Director receives a fixed fee of HK$150,000 (2022:
HK$150,000) per annum. Fees paid to Non-executive
Directors for the year amounted to HK$702,000 (2022:
HK$650,000). During the year, the Group did not pay
the Directors any inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, any compensation for loss of office. None of the
Directors has waived the right to receive their emoluments.

ERREARRAR —ZT_=FFHK
I

B R2EFEFHKRIM—2EF
4 7B #150,0007T (20224F « 7
#£150,0007T) ° ARFMFEHITE
EXffzHEE HE®K702,0007T
(20224 : ##650,0007T) ° &
RN 5 B I 8 W E B AT ERE
ARSI EEMAKIMAERR 2
He AEBHIRHE -BFF
YN EREEB S o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. BEERSRTHRAEME(#)
EMOLUMENTS (cont’d)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (cont'd) (a) EE=EM<EH)
Details of the emoluments paid and accrued to the MESIN2MSFBOT :

Directors are as follows:

For the year ended 30 September 2023 B ZE2023F9H30HLLFE
Salaries and Long service
Name of Director Fees allowances Bonus payments Total
FER
EEFA He HittM & A RERBE st

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BRI BRT T BRT T ERT T BT

Mr. Chung Ming Fai ERES S

(passed away on (FA2023%

4 May 2023) 5F4H ) 89 - - - 89

Mr. Chung Yin Shu, EEELE
Frederick 150 1,097 158 259 1,664

Mr. Chung Wai Shu, EEERE
Robert 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lo Pak Shiu ER@LE 150 - - - 150

Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, Bk A
Patrick 150 - - - 150
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick &% ¥%4 150 - - - 150
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony ERUELE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Wong Tak Wai, Avin ~ E{EE L4 51 - - - 51
Ms. Ling Kit Sum, Imma ~ EZL%& L 51 = = = 51
1,091 1,097 158 259 2,605
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’ 9. EERERITHRAEME(E)
EMOLUMENTS (cont’d)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (cont'd) (a) EE=EM<EH)
For the year ended 30 September 2022 HE2022F9A30H L FE
Salaries and Long service
Name of Director Fees allowances Bonus payments Total
HEk
EE54 fikn HivBe L RERBE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BB BT BRI BT

Mr. Chung Ming Fai E)

(passed away on (FA2023%F
4 May 2023) 5H4BEHE) 150 = - - 150
Dr. Fong Yun Wah, EERL
G.B.S., J.P. (passed FEHEE -
away on 6 January Kt L
2022) (720224
1R6REH) 50 - - - 50
Mr. Chung Yin Shu, EEELE
Frederick 150 1,068 133 226 1,577
Mr. Chung Wai Shu, BEERE
Robert 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lo Pak Shiu BlRRLE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Yuen Sik Ming, BrénR kg
Patrick 150 - - - 150
Mr. Tsang On Yip, Patrick ZZ#%L4 150 - - - 150
Mr. Wong Kai Tung, Tony  ERUELE 150 - - - 150
1,100 1,068 133 226 2,527

Notes: Btk -

()  During the year, no payments, benefits or pensions in () ATFEAXN - WEEZIEER
respect of termination of directors’ services were paid or EFEMRIEBRFIGRAKS R
made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any TEEMZENKR(2022 :
payable (2022: HK$NIl). ;) o

(i) During the year, no consideration was provided to or iy ANFEAN - UERREZSZR
receivable by third parties for making available directors’ BHREZFRENHENS
services (2022: HK$NIl). e (2022 )
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES’
EMOLUMENTS (cont'd)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (cont'd)

Notes: (cont’d)

(i)~ During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2022: None).

(iv)  Except as disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements, no significant transactions, arrangements
and contracts in relation to the Company’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a director of
the Company had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year (2022: None).

(b) Senior executives’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year include one Director (2022: one
Director) whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented in note 9 (a) above. Details of the emoluments

9.

ESRERITRAEME ()

(a) EE=EM<EH)
BfsE - ()

iy AFERN  VTERES - 2
LEERFINEAEERZ
EMREEEIRENER 2
BHRMEMZ HHER(2022 :
) o

X

(v) BRMFEESHWEIN  KEE
A ARRWERTEAS R
AEBZEBMARNRZES
ERgHEEEETBEERR
H2EBERS ZHYXAER
(2022 : £) o

(b) SHRITHAEME

AFEEEBRSE RS 2 @5
ATBEIE1ZEF(2022F : 14
EE) HBMSEHIRR B
O@) » 445 (20224 : 4% )&

paid to the remaining four (2022: four) individuals during RFALTZMEFHET :
the year are as follows:

2023 2022
2023F 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Salaries and other emoluments e LEMBE 2,626 2,487
Long service payments RHR%S 524 92
3,150 2,579

The emoluments of each of the individuals are below
HK$1,000,000.

108

TEPALN BT ot
1,000,0007T °

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. HIE

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated statement FEirE2ERERZIEZHBENT ¢
of comprehensive income represents:

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HIK$'000
BT T BT T
Current income tax BNERFT1S AR
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBFER 16,429 17,973
— (Over)/under-provision in respect of —\EFE 2 (B5), Vit
prior year 2] (64) 14
16,365 17,987
Deferred income tax (note 22) EIEFTSFL (M zE22) 54 120
16,419 18,107
For the years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022, the HE 202352022949 A30H [FFE -
provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been calculated in EBMNEF TR ENSH ML EETE o
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. Under RIEFNERMmAE @ ANEBRSEREE
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million B 78 %2 000,000 7T FE 5T Ft v R B9 i =
of assessable profits of a qualifying corporation of the Group 58.25% -+ MA@ & 2,000,000 7T A
will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above HK$2 FERLRLHF 2 R 516.5% o TNFA F
million of the qualifying corporation will be taxed at 16.5%. The SBERMEEERNEEEmEREE
assessable profits of the other entity of the Group in Hong Kong FEFE RS A B —37216.5% i K1 E o
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (cont'd) 10. HIE(E)
The taxation on the Group’s loss before taxation differs from the REBEBBRTAIEE 2 BIEEBER
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of AEBHNEmMGE 2 IRmbisE.2 Z a0
Hong Kong as follows. i
2023 2022
2023%F 2022%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Loss before taxation bRIGATIEE 112,746 (109,283)
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% L E16.5% (20224 : 16.5%)

(2022: 16.5%) TR (18,603) (18,032)
Income not subject to taxation AR WA (1,256) (359)
Expenses or loss not deductible for A HIF2

taxation purposes 36,507 36,645
Effect of different tax rate of a subsidiary ~ HiB AR TR E 2 £ (165) (1695)
(Over)/under-provision in respect of prior £ 2 (B%8), Vet

year (64) 14
Income tax expenses BiIE 16,419 18,107
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Interim dividend paid of HK$1.80 BEIREHERE - SREB1T8A
(2022: HK$1.80) per share (2022%F : FBEE1T8A) 45,000 45,000

Final dividend proposed of HK$1.80 BIRBERHRE - §RAEK17T8A
(2022: HK$1.80) per share (20225 : HIREH1T8A) 45,000 45,000
90,000 90,000
At a meeting held on 15 December 2023, the Directors R2023F 12 H15HBIT 2 g% - &
recommended a final dividend of HK$1.80 per share. This EeERRERPRESHREL1LS
proposed dividend will be accounted for as an appropriation of A o IEBURAR iS5 EBE2024F9 A

retained profits for the year ending 30 September 2024. 0B LEFEZRERMDIK °

ERREBERAT —To=F&R m



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREBE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss BREAR(ER), BF RRREEN
attributable to equity holders of HK$129,165,000 (2022: JE7 18 75 #129,165,000 7T (2022 4F : &5
HK$127,390,000) and the 25,000,000 shares in issue 1878 1127,390,0007T ) M & £ 2023 &
throughout the two years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022. 202299 H30R |F M FfE 2 B 1T EAD

25,000,000/ MEtE -

Diluted loss per share equals basic loss per share because R R 22023 % 202249 A30H 1+
there were no potential dilutive shares outstanding during the M A BESEE ) 2 BITEINR
two years ended 30 September 2023 and 2022. - WEREEEEIBEGRERGER
ﬁ o
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. W% - S RFE

Fixtures and

equipment
BEEER
B
HK$’'000
oL cmi
Cost RE
Balance as at 1 October 2021 7202110518 8,123
Additions NE 79
Balance as at 30 September 2022 7202249 A30H 8,202
Additions NE 133
__Balance asat 30 September2023 M2023FOAS0H 8,335
Accumulated depreciation ZEFE
Balance as at 1 October 2021 7202110718 8,039
Charge for the year REEHFE 108
Balance as at 30 September 2022 720229 H30H 8,147
Charge for the year REEHE 33
__Balanceasat 30 September 2023 M2028%FOA80R 8,180
Net book value REFE
Balance as at 30 September 2023 72023F9H30H 155
Balance as at 30 September 2022 120229 H30H 55
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. REYWHE

HIK$'000
BT
Valuation at 1 October 2021 R2021F10A1H 2 HE 7,503,500
Fair value changes NABEE (220,800)
Valuation at 30 September 2022 20229 H30R 2 {H1E 7,282,700
Additions B 2,426
Fair value changes NREEZS) (221,126)
Valuation at 30 September 2023 M2023F9H30H 2 & 7,064,000
Group
Principal investment properties Type Floor area interest
FTEREMHE Az BHEE EEEE
(Sq. ft.)
(FHFR)
Melbourne Plaza Commercial retail 257,036 100%
BT HMEZE
Kimley Commercial Building Commercial retail 49,003 100%
EAEERNE BMEZTE
On Hing Mansion Shop 9B Retail 270 100%
2 BN [E 9B Te
Valuation process of the Group AEENEERE

The investment properties as at 30 September 2023 were WEWMED BB B EYEMER R
revalued on an open market value basis by CS Surveyors BIE1THRARAR2023F9 A0 %
NATEEESEHGE - WEERRE
HEEEER  WEAHENRERRE
HIEE RO b BE AN CELS A T HAAE B - BAFT A
KREMHEHE  EERINERASNESR
EMEEFA o

Limited, independent professional valuer who holds a
recognised professional qualification and has recent experience
in the locations and segments of the investment properties
valued. For all investment properties, their current use equates
to the highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

14.

114

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont’d)

Valuation process of the Group (cont'd)

The Group’s finance department includes a team that reviews
the valuation performed by the independent valuer for financial
reporting purposes. This team reports directly to the senior
management and the Audit Committee. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the management and
valuer at least once every six months, in line with the Group’s
interim and annual reporting dates.

At each financial year end, the finance department verifies all
major inputs to the independent valuation report; assesses
property valuation movements when compared to the prior year
valuation report; and holds discussions with the independent
valuer.

The investment properties are commercial properties in Hong
Kong held under long leases (over 50 years).

Fair values of the investment properties are derived using
the direct comparison approach. Sales prices of comparable
properties in close proximity are adjusted for differences in key
attributes such as property location, time, layout, frontage and
ancillary.

As at 30 September 2023 and 2022, all investment properties
are included in level 3 fair value hierarchy.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the
year and there were no transfers between fair value hierarchy
during the year.

14.

BREME(®)
AREREERE
AEBEHERAE — A ME - BERY

BIE B EE LA EMNAEETTR
o W MEEERERERENEZE
EEER - RESAEENTHRNEE
HEAH - ERERGERRSERE
A& —X - SmbEREMAES

o

e

EEEVRERER  WEaRELE
MIHERESHMAERBA - FHEYME
MER FFEHERSLR TOEHL
BB (A ERETTR ©

NREFBNERREMEZ LI EH

AERI(HBIB50F) -

BREWE 2 ARBEIVEBERLEIL
EL - EALA L BMENEBD T

TR (PR - S8 - IR
H - BRSO B
B -

20234 & 2022F9 H30H © FTA KR
EMEEHRBARTFHESFNFEIFR -

HEERF A BN RN FARE
RN EFR 2 RS -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont'd) 14. REWHE )
Valuation process of the Group (cont'd) AEENBEREE)
The most significant input into this valuation is price per square IHEZENRERBA ST T HROE
foot. Information about fair value measurement using significant & o FREARTABEB AN T ER
unobservable inputs: EMNER
Range of
Completed 2023 2022  Valuation unobservable  Relationship of
properties Fair value Fairvalue  technique inputs  unobservable inputs
20235 20224 TABE TABEEHA
TR ZREME AREE PREE  HERN BANEE HAREENBR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$ per square foot
BETT BT BEETAR
Melbourne Plaza 6,395,000 6,600,000 Direct Comparison Adjusted market  The higher the price, the

comparable prices higher the fair value
ranging from
15,357-70,259
(2022: 20,536-62,182),
taking into account
locations and
other individual factors
such as layout,

frontage and
conditions of
the property.
BRI BREEEE FREENEz EBEYS AAEEE

CRBULEMGERE MR
1 ¥-15,357-70,259
(2022F : N F
20,536-62,182) -
EREBME IR
HEthfERIEZ -
iR - BAEERR
PR IEL B o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont'd) 14. REWHE )
Valuation process of the Group (cont'd) AEENBEREE)
Range of
Completed 2023 2022  Valuation unobservable Relationship of
properties Fair value Fairvalue  technique inputs  unobservable inputs
20235 20226 TABE TUREGA
TR ZREME AfEE RREE  HER BANEE HARBEENBRER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$ per square foot
BETT BETT BESTHR
Kimley Commercial 655,800 670,000 Direct Comparison Adjusted market  The higher the price, the
Building comparable prices higher the fair value
ranging from
9,248-78,566

(2022: 10,085-77,904),
taking into account
locations and
other individual factors
such as layout,
frontage and
conditions of
the property.
eMEEAE BREEE ERAEENEz BESS 2AEEE
KREIERMSESE &
1179,248-78,566
(2022F : N
10,085-77,904)
ERBEANE LR
HthfEREZ -
migR - BREEER
RRIEL TR
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Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (cont’d)

Valuation process of the Group (cont'd)

2023 2022

Fair value Fair value
20235 20224
AREE AREE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BETT

Completed
properties

TR Z RENE

Valuation
technique

fhERM

14, REWEE)

rEBWEERE(E)

Range of
unobservable
inputs

TABE
BANEE

HKS$ per square foot
EEETHR

Relationship of

unobservable inputs

FABEBA
BAABENBR

On Hing Mansion 13,200 12,700

Shop 9B

SYNEIEE

X}

ERREEARDE —ZT_=FFR

Direct Comparison

BRLEE

Adjusted market
comparable prices
ranging from
44,231-52,381

(2022: 36,740-53,358),

taking into account
locations and

other individual factors

such as layout,
frontage and
conditions of
the property.
ERBENEL

‘«égﬁéﬂthﬁ\ﬁ%g%
)

- F44,231-52 381
(2022% « N F
36,740-53,358) -

ERAENE IR

HifEREE
MR~ FRETES R
A o

The higher the price, the

higher the fair value
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

15. SUBSIDIARY 15. B AT
Details of the subsidiary as at 30 September 2023 and 2022 20234 K 2022F9 A30H Z KB A
are set out below: CIEI=ORNE

Private company incorporated

in Hong Kong and directly Issued and paid up ordinary Equity
owned by the Company share capital holding
EEBIMEY 2 A&

BRARWHAAREEES ERTRBEZBERRKE LREEDE
lau On Company Limited HK$10,000,000 of 100,000 shares 100%
WL BRAR] 75#10,000,0007T.2 100,0004%

The subsidiary is engaged in the business of property ZBARIERBEEMERE -

investment in Hong Kong.

16. INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 16. BEFZZEZARNKRE
EQUITY METHOD
2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT

Group’s share of net assets of investment N8 BIFf {5 I FEZE A BREVIEE
accounted for using the equity method L EEFE - -

Advance to an investment accounted for  AIZEZE AR ENER

using the equity method 5,561 5,433
Less: Provision for impairment losses B REEERE (5,561) (5,433)
The advance to an investment accounted for using the equity MiZEREARMIEENERL &K
method is unsecured, interest free and not repayable within 12 - TEFBREAER12EARERE -
months.

There is no investment accounted for using the equity method REBVEERNSEEEZNRERE
that is individually significant to the Group. There were no share ABRRRE - REBEWE(GREREA
of revenues or profit/(loss) and other comprehensive income RRIEE 2 WSS F R, (B8 &
for the year of the investment accounted for using the equity HEm 2wk o
method.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

16. INVESTMENT ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE 16. BEREARNIKRE (&)
EQUITY METHOD (cont'd)

Details of the investment accounted for using the equity method T EANRMIRENFBET

are set out below:

Private company

incorporated
in Hong Kong and
directly owned Issued and paid up Principal activities
by the Company ordinary share capital Equity holding (in Hong Kong)
EEBEMBL2FE
BRABMEHADF ERTRBEEER FEEK
HEES &N HEREES =X (E&#B)
2023 2022
20234F 20224F
Chuen King Enterprises HK$100,000 of 50% 50% Inactive
Limited 1,000 shares
EREEARAT 7&#100,0007T 2 1,000/% mER
17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 17. BREREPHNEMIA
2023 2022
2023F 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Financial assets SHMEE
Financial assets at fair value through U2 R EEF AEMEEKE
other comprehensive income HNEmEE 72,627 89,106
Financial assets at amortised cost REBHERAIEZEREE
Long-term receivables B IK 29,605 29,605
Trade and other debtors B 5 R HE MR 10,916 11,301
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITIFHR 254,113 244,429
Financial liabilities cRAaE
Financial liability at amortised cost REBHAARIERzSMEE
Trade creditors and deposits B RMNERE WZS 40,378 40,602

ERREAERAR —ZE_=FFH
I
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND
ADVANCES TO AN INVESTEE COMPANY

120

Financial asset at FVOCI comprises equity investment which

is not held for trading, and which the Group has irrevocably

elected at initial recognition to recognise in this category. It is an

strategic investments and the Group considers this classification

to be

more relevant.

18. UAREEFARMEEKEL
TREE

RAanBEMAELEARGENSHBE
EBEIFRZMNERIE - UK
B 7E ¥ IR HERR RS L T TR R B8

HERMPO LR -

B RREIERE -

ARSER RS BERERE

2023 2022

20234 20224

HK$’000 HK$’'000

BT T BET T

Unlisted equity investment I LEMERRE 72,627 89,106
Advances to an investee company MR E RN FIER 29,605 29,605

Notes:

)

(i)

Financial asset at FVOCI represents 14.29% equity interest in
Billion Park Investment Limited (“Billion Park”), a private company
incorporated in Hong Kong. The principal activity of Billion Park
is to participate in Foshan International Country Club Company
Limited, a co-operative joint venture formed in the People’s
Republic of China in which the Group has an effective interest of
5%, for the construction of commercial and residential properties
and the operation of a golf course in Foshan.

As at 30 September 2023, the fair value of unlisted financial
asset at FVOCI is determined by adjusted net asset method
with reference to market value of the golf courses facilities and
related commercial and residential properties assessed by an
independent professional valuer, using discounted cash flow
method, direct market comparison, residual method and income
capitalisation method for respective properties.

Wi

(i)

NARBEFAEMEEEENSE
BEAEEBEMELZIALRE
IR EBR AT &) 214.29%
i BRAZEIBEBRLHERHR
FRAL 7 & VR 2R L ST B L5 R
AE] - fEfRIL B R B R EBRIS AR B
ZREEMFERN - AEBELEBEZE
ED SR BB -

R2023F9H30H * IEETURRE
EfAEM2EBRENSREENRA
AEENCHAESFEET ATI12E8
B BEMEMFEARIRRE R
BEELEE - FEERKEERL
EEETRARRIBRIE A EER
TEMEMNTENGEST -

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

18. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND
ADVANCES TO AN INVESTEE COMPANY (cont'd)

Notes: (cont’d)

(i) The following table presents the change during the year:

18. LA REEFAREMEEEEA

EREE®)

MaE ()

(i) TRETFAHES

2023 2022
20234 20224
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BB T T
At 1 October M®10A1H 89,106 98,273
Changes in fair value NABEZE (16,479) (9,167)
At 30 September MR9A30H 72,627 89,106
(v)  The advances are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed terms (v EFHlERWEEE - T8 4B E
of repayment and not expected to be settled within 12 months. TEEGEIREBM2EARNEE -
Their carrying amounts are not materially different from their fair =

values.

ERREARRAR —ZT_=FFHK
I

LEmMEREARBELEENE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

19. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 19. EURBRFR - HMEUWERRR - B4

122

AND PREPAYMENTS BERELR
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade debtors Z ZEERRN 4,554 2,747
Deferred rent receivables (note) IEIE e WA & (B sE) 3,373 6,055
Prepayment and deposits BENREREMZS 1,914 1,890
Other receivables H AR 1,474 984
11,315 11,676

Represented by: HER :

Current assets MEVEE 11,094 9,448
Non-current assets EMBEE 221 2,228
11,315 11,676
Note: Deferred rent receivables represent the accumulated difference Mist - EEEWAS A RS K EER
between effective rental revenue and gross invoiced amount of HEeBHERBHRFZERE - BHR
rental. Deferred rent receivables amounted to HK$221,000 (2022: BEEABEXRATZEAERZRNE
HK$2,228,000) which are expected to be realised twelve months #221,0007T (2022 : /& #E2,228,000
after the balance sheet date are classified as non-current assets. TO)REEFEBAH S IVEFEREN B EE ©

Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2023
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

19. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS, 19. EURBRFR - HMEUWERRR - B4

BHRERERAF
I

AND PREPAYMENTS (cont'd)

The Group normally does not grant credit period to trade
debtors. As of 30 September 2023, trade receivables of the
Group amounting to HK$4,554,000 (2022: HK$2,747,000)
was not impaired. These relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The
ageing of these trade receivables is as follows:

BERBENRE)

AEB-—BRIEHRTEZFIBEBAREE
Hi o PA2023F9 A30H » AEBE B
4,554,0007T (20224 : B#52,747,000
TT)NE S REER IR ERE o S
S IEMBR SR % 2 30 BN | R F 8% 2
BYRFAER - E5EWERERZ BRI U0
T

2023 2022

20234F 20224

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT

Within 30 days 30K 2,283 1,632
31 to 60 days 31E60X 969 578
61 to 90 days 61ZE90K 550 293
Over 90 days 90KRIA 752 344
4,554 2,747

At 30 September 2023 and 2022, no loss allowance was made
on the trade debtors. The Group applies the simplified approach
to provide for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9.
No trade debtors (2022: HK$NIl) were written off for the year
ended 30 September 2023.

—E_ZFEFR

2023 &2 20229F9 A30H © & 5 fEU
BRI B RHE - AEBERAEBE
BHREERIFESFRAATNE T EA
TEEIEEEAEME - #iZ2023F9H30
HIEFR - W (20224F : ) E 5.
U BR R E g o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

19. DEBTORS, OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS,
AND PREPAYMENTS (cont'd)

The other classes within debtors, other receivables, deposits
and prepayments do not contain impaired assets.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security, except
that the Group holds rental deposits from tenants for leasing of
properties.

The carrying amounts of debtors, other receivables and
deposits were denominated in Hong Kong dollars and
approximate their fair values.

19.

FEW R - B ERR - B
BERAMNRGE)

HAAHRIFINE 5 RUSR - E e
R B RE MR ERE

AEBERFAEPNEBREIN - L&
FrAEMEAS o

MR - bR R BENZE
(BB EE) 2 IREEA B AR LR
HARBETEERESR -

20. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 20. HERBITER
2023 2022
2023 0224
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Cash at banks and on hand RITNFEERSE 56,762 54,035
Time deposits EHTF R 197,351 190,394
254,113 244,429

The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

124
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

21. CREDITORS, ACCRUALS AND DEPOSITS

21. EERX - ENERAREREZSE

2023 2022

20234F 2022%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T BT T

Trade creditors B SN 1,843 1,144
Accruals and deposits [T &R KRB Wite 38,535 39,458
40,378 40,602

The carrying amounts of creditors, accruals and deposits were ERERR - BNEARERIZE 2 RE
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and approximate their fair BEABEEE REENABETEER

values.

The ageing analysis of the trade creditors based on invoice date

is as follows:

EH o

REHZAH  BHRNKRRZEERD

T -

2023 2022

20234F 2022%F

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T T TT

Within 30 days 30K 1,843 1,122
More than 90 days PN - 22
1,843 1,144

ERREBERRAR —_T_—FEFR 125



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

22.

126

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 22, FREFHEEE
Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences BELERIBRABABEEINEREERRE
under the liability method using a taxation rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%(20224F : 16.5%)EZ HUEE -
16.5%).
The movements on the net deferred tax liabilities during the year FEERIASEFECEFHNT
are as follows:
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Accelerated tax depreciation INERFIBITE
At 1 October M10A1H 2,412 2,292
Charged to consolidated statement of RERE 2 EWER &R0 (FTEE10)
comprehensive income (note 10) 54 120
At 30 September RO A30H 2,466 2,412
Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. a4
2023 2022
20234 20224
Number of Number of
shares HK$’000 shares HK$’000

42 8 BT T et 2 B BT IT

Ordinary shares, issued and 217 & B USRS -

fully paid:
At beginning and end of ~ FAFEH) N FAERS
the year 25,000,000 125,000 25,000,000 125,000
24. FUTURE MINIMUM LEASE RECEIVABLE 24, RRREEWES
The future aggregate minimum lease receivables under non- KB T EEHUE < & @M A TR KA (K
cancellable operating leases are as follows: WHSKIERAT :
2023 2022
2023% 20224F
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T T TT
Not later than 1 year M1ER 119,289 106,157
Between 1 and 2 years MM E2FR 49,651 45,324
Between 2 and 3 years R2E3FA 5,118 5,601
174,058 157,082
The Group’s operating leases are generally for terms of one to REBERARZEERNFER—RAE—
three years. =% o
EBRREERAT —T--EFR 127



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

25.

128

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, certain investment properties of the Group
were leased to related companies, which are controlled by
certain directors of the Company and/or their close family
members, at terms in accordance with the relevant tenancy
agreements. Rental and related income received from these
related companies during the year were HK$4,655,000 (2022:
HK$5,082,000).

During the year, the meal expenses for employees of
HK$192,000 (2022: HK$192,000) were paid by the Group to a
related company, Fu Hop Investment Company Limited, which
is controlled by certain directors of the Company, at mutually
agreed terms.

No significant transactions have been entered with the directors
of the Company (being the key management personnel) during
the year other than the emoluments paid to them (being the key
management personnel compensation) as disclosed in note
9(a).

The advance to an investment accounted for using the equity
method is disclosed in note 16.

25. FBEALTZRS

FA - AEEERE 2 HES RGHRHE
PHEREVETEBEZ AR - A
NAIZHNESR R RETHK B
BIEHIE - NFEERLEE@EARIN
WE 2 & &R & 778 ¥ 4,655,000
T0(2022%F : 7#5,082,0007T) °

FA - AEERESEEGKRR - XH8
TREREHB192,0007T (20224 :
7 #192,0007T) T—HBHBEEZ R
A-BARAEBEARRAR  MARAZH
UEEERAEGIE -

BRRME)ARE - XN TFAREE
FERIZEEEET) 2ME(ER
TZEEEEIM=)IN  ARRIFA
WBmERFR L EAIERR S

MRS EARORENE RN
16 FE ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S %5 R 3% B =

26. COMPANY BALANCE SHEET 26. ARIEEAER
30 September 30 September
2023 2022
2023F 20224
9HS30H 9H30H
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B aE BT T BT
Non-current assets FERBNEE
Property, plant and equipment N =Y 155 55
Investment properties wEME 6,395,000 6,600,000
Investment in a subsidiary L) NG 15 10,000 10,000
Investment in an associate m—EERaZIE 50 50
Financial asset at fair value through AARBEFARMEE
other comprehensive income Wz eREE 72,627 89,107
Advances to an investee company MHFIRERAIER 29,605 29,605
Deferred rent receivables ELEEWES 219 2,204
6,507,656 6,731,021
Current assets RBEEE
Debtors, other receivables, deposits ~ JEURERFN + EfhEUERER -
and prepayments EfiEE RIER 10,317 8,878
Cash and bank balances Be MIRTTIER 252,945 243,871
263,262 252,749
Current liabilities REBEE
Creditors, accruals and deposits JERTER - EREBRREW
Re 37,644 38,040
Amount due to a subsidiary FEARTH B A 7708 16,157 12,434
Current tax payable BN ERE (S R IE 17,621 8,462
71,422 58,936
Netourentassets  mmAESE 191880 103013
Total assets less current liabilities ﬁE%@%ﬁ;}ﬁﬁEﬁE{ﬁ _________________________ 6,699,496 6,924,834
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Provision for long service payments REARRTG © B 15,363 14,756
Deferred tax liabilities BIEHIEAE 2,466 2,412
17,829 17,168
Net assets EEFE 6,681,667 6,907,666
BREEERAT —T-=E45H 129



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

26. COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (cont'd)

6. AEEERER®E)

30 September 30 September
2023 2022
2023F 20224
9H30H 9H30H
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Equity ER

Share capital &% 125,000 125,000

Fair value through other AARBEFAEMEE
comprehensive income reserve W 72,626 89,105
Retained profits IREB & F 6,484,041 6,693,561
Total equity iR 6,681,667 6,907,666

Chung Yin Shu, Frederick

EEE
Director

EFE

130

Chung Wai Shu, Robert
EEE
Director

)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 7% ¥R 2R MY &

26. COMPANY BALANCE SHEET (cont'd)

Note:

Reserves

The movements of the Company’s reserves is as follows:

26. PEEEEBR®E)

BEE

&

AARFEZEFHMT
Fair value

through other
comprehensive

income Retained
reserve profits Total
RAREE
STARMEE
Wi RE =T B
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$’000
BT BT BT
Company AF
Balance at 30 September 2021 A20215F9H301 &8k 98,272 6,895,336 6,993,608
Loss for the year AN F - (111,775) (111,775)
Fair value loss on financial asset AR REBE AHMEEIKEEH
at fair value through other SREEMNAAEERS
comprehensive income (9,167) - (9,167)
Total comprehensive loss for the AN 8 2 E N 4858
year 9,167) (111,775) (120,942)
2021 final dividend paid 2021F B R AKREANR B - (45,000) (45,000)
2022 interim dividend paid 2022F 2R EIRE - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance at 30 September 2022 202259301 &tk 89,105 6,693,561 6,782,666
Loss for the year AN F - (119,520) (119,520)
Fair value loss on financial asset AR EBEETAEM 2R
at fair value through other CREEMNAABEERS
comprehensive income (16,479) - (16,479)
Total comprehensive loss for the  ANFE & E NG HAEE
year (16,479) (119,520) (135,999)
2022 final dividend paid 20224F B R KR EARE 2 - (45,000) (45,000)
2023 interim dividend paid 2023F B R HIfE B - (45,000) (45,000)
Balance at 30 September 2023 4202349 A 30H 45 &4 72,626 6,484,041 6,556,667
ERREBERRAR —_T_—FEFR 131



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TFEHMBERE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20226 20214 20204 20194
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T BT T BT IT BT T
Investment properties, property, &&EWE - M -
plant and equipment 128 K 2R A 7,064,155 7282755 7,503,584 7,520,416 8,838,177
Investments accounted for using 1R A ABREIZE
the equity method - - - - -
Investment and advances KERER 102,232 118,711 127,878 115,892 138,686
Deferred rent receivables EREENES 221 2,228 505 966 -
Current assets MENEE 265,207 253,877 259,219 304,295 308,224
Total assets BEMAE 7,431,815 7,657,571 7,891,186 7,941,569 9,285,087
Current liabilities neaE (58,653) (49,426) (56,517) (71,441) (79,328)
Non-current liabilities FRnEEE (17,829) (17,168) (17,135) (16,443) (16,342)
Net assets BEFH 7,355,333 7,500,977 7,817,534 7,853,685 9,189,417
Share capital %N 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000 125,000
Investment revaluation reserve & & E {4 {E - - . - -
Fair value through other UARBER A
comprehensive income 2EKEEE
reserve 72,626 89,105 98,272 86,286 109,080
Retained profits REBHEF 7,157,707 7,376,872 7,594,262 7,642,399 8955337
Total equity i 7,355,333  7,500077 7,817,534 7,853,685 9,189,417
Revenue Wz 157,894 158,707 160,423 208,704 226,921
Operating (loss)/profit EE(EB), & (112,746) (109,283) 82,879  (1,159,891) (619,483)
Share of results of investments ~ FE(LIRIEREABRE
accounted for using the REMNEE
equity method = - - - -
(Loss)/profit before taxation BREAT(EE), S5F  (112,746) (109,283) 82,879  (1,159,891) (619,483)
Income tax expense A (16,419) (18,107) (16,016) (25,547) (29,365)
(Loss)/profit attributable to IR FE(S (B51B),/
equity holders pavl (129,165) (127,390) 66,863 (1,185,438) (548,848)
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
et Pt B B B
(Loss)/earnings per share FR(ER),/BF
Basic and diluted ERREE (5.17) (5.10) 2.67 (47.42) (21.95)
Dividends per share BRRERE
Interim i 1.80 1.80 1.80 2.30 2.30
Final A 1.80 1.80 1.80 2.80 2.80
3.60 3.60 3.60 5.10 5.10
132 Melbourne Enterprises Limited Annual Report 2023
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